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Highlights

$11.6 million
Total Revenue and 
other income1

$1.9 million
Underlying EBITDA1

$2.3 million
Underlying operating 
cashflow1

$12.4 million
ARR2

34%
B2B Market Share 
ANZ2, 4

1,326
B2C Paying 
customers2

1For financial year 2021
2As at 30 June 2021
3As at the date of this Annual Report
4Market share of agencies paying for one or more PropTech Group products, ANZ total market size is 12,200 agencies as 
per the Frost & Sullivan market report (October 2020) included in the PropTech Group’s prospectus 
5Includes Contractors, Full-Time and Part-Time staff

Staff2, 5103Brands38

2 Highlights
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The PropTech Group Limited (‘PropTech Group’) is a leading investor in and operator of PropTech companies 
in Australia, New Zealand (together ‘ANZ’) and the United Kingdom (‘UK’), with the objective to own, 
operate and invest in market leading technologies that streamline, optimise and automate residential and 
commercial real estate agency business operations in the ANZ and the UK. 

Founded in November 2020 PropTech Group Limited (formally known as Real Estate Investar Group Limited) 
merged with private company Real Estate CRM Pty Ltd (‘RECRM’) to create a pure play PropTech company 
consolidating ANZ Real Estate Agent CRMs to form the largest CRM provider in ANZ. As at 30 June 2021 31% 
of all ANZ agencies using one of PropTech Group’s CRM’s and 34% using one or more of PropTech Group’s 
products or service. 

PropTech Group’s current portfolio of Software as a Service (‘SaaS’) products include:

Product Description Markets
Real Estate Agent CRM

Eagle 
(acquired 
1 July 2021)

Leading provider of CRM, listing management and 
website solutions to independent, boutique and small 
multi-office real estate agencies 

Australia 
New Zealand

VaultRE

Next-generation all in one real estate platform 
including residential and commercial sales CRM and 
Property Management modules. Market leading 
enterprise platform, exclusive agreements with the 
largest corporate franchise groups

Australia 
New Zealand 
United Kingdom

MyDesktop
Legacy sales CRM platform acquired from Domain 
Holdings Group (ASX.DHG) in 2020 being migrated 
to and replaced by VaultRE

Australia 
New Zealand

H1 Harcourts’ legacy CRM system being migrated to and 
replaced by VaultRE

Australia 
New Zealand

Auxiliary services and products

RentFind 
Inspector Digital property inspection tool for agents

Australia 
New Zealand 
United Kingdom

Website Blue Leading provider of real estate agency and agent 
websites

Australia 
New Zealand 
United Kingdom

Designly Enterprise marketing asset and campaign creation 
and management platform

Australia 
New Zealand 
United Kingdom

Product Description Markets
Investor Tools

Real Estate 
Investar

Online property investor platform, that allows 
investors to locate, compare and analyse some 
of the best property investment opportunities 
through one platform 

Australia 
New Zealand

About PropTech Group

Business to Business (‘B2B’)

Business to Consumer (‘B2C’)

1Excludes Eagle acquisition completed July 2021. Market share of agencies paying for one or more PropTech Group products, 
ANZ total market size is 12,200 agencies as per the Frost & Sullivan market report (October 2020) included in the PropTech 
Group’s prospectus 

H1
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1. ARPA = Average Revenue Per Agency per month and includes bundled products and modules such as websites.

eg. PM module, commercial module, Website Blue, Designly

Increase market share of ANZ real 
estate agencies that use at least one 
PropTech Group product.

Acquire, build or partner with 
companies that complement and 
extend capabilties through deep 
integration with PropTech Group’s 
leading CRM assets.

Centralised new business, account 
management and marketing teams 
focused on upselling and cross selling 
suite of PropTech Group products to 
existing and new customers.

Increase presence in the UK and 
other international markets through 
organic growth and potential M&A 
opportunities.

Increase 
Market 
Share

Expand 
product 
range

Grow 
ARPA1

Open New 
Geographies

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

About PropTech Group cont.

PropTech Group’s growth strategy is underpinned by four key pillars. 

These pillars form part of the everyday operations and decisions made at board and 
management levels which, along with a great working relationship with some of ANZ’s, 
largest franchise groups, provides a unique opportunity for the PropTech Group to 
become an all in one PropTech provider for a real estate agents and agencies providing 
everything they need to manage their back office operations.

4 About PropTech Group
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The Proptech opportunity landscape is becoming quite fragmented with 
multiple incumbents along with new entrants offering niche products and 
services that often cross over one another. 

This provides the PropTech Group with an opportunity to continue 
consolidation and move down the value chain through the execution of a 
build, buy or partner strategy.

PropTech Group has over 103 employees across  6 different office locations 
in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom.

Online 
Property 
Portals

Online 
Market 
Places

Existing 
product

Possible product extension & 
M&A opportunities

Research & 
Analytics

Big Data / AI

Finance

Agent / 
Agency 
Marketing

Property 
Management  
(PM)

CRM 
Add On 
Modules

CRM

5About PropTech Group
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The 2021 financial year was divided into two 
segments, separated by the re-listing of the 
PropTech Group on the ASX.  

    During the first period from 1 July 2020 to 
19 November 2020, Real Estate Investar 
Limited and RE CRM Pty Ltd operated as 
two separate entities; and  

    During the second the period 20 
November 2020 to 30 June 2021, all 
businesses operated as the PropTech 
Group Limited while new acquisitions 
were undertaken.

Since re-listing, the focus of the management 
team has been on integrating key parts of 
the business, migrating customers from the 
legacy MyDesktop CRM to VaultRE, improving 
operational efficiencies, and identifying 
and implementing M&A opportunities.  Key 
milestones achieved during year include:

    Re-listing of the PropTech Group on the 
ASX; 

    Signing a new long-term agreement with 
market leading franchise group Ray White;

    Acquiring the Harcourts’ H1 software 
business and commencing migration of 
customer base to VaultRE; 

    Acquiring Website Blue and its Designly 
product; and 

    Expanding the leadership team with high 
quality new hires. 

Shareholders who participated in the capital raise at 
the re-listing received a 220 percent return on their 
investment with shares closing on the 30 June 2021 at 
80 cents. 

Since the end of the financial year, the Company has 
continued its M&A activity with the acquisition of 
Eagle Software and the successful capital raise.  The 
Company is now in a strong position to accelerate its 
growth in the 2022 financial year.

The focus for 2022 is on:

   Continuing to migrate the remaining MyDesktop 
customers to VaultRE;

   Driving organic growth in customers;

   Cross selling and upselling new products and 
services to the existing customers; 

   Improving operational efficiencies within the 
business;

   Identifying and implementing further M&A 
opportunities; and

   Continuing to build a world class leadership team.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to congratulate 
CEO Joe Hanna and CFO Michael Fiorenza on all 
their hard work in managing the re-listing process, 
the integration of the business units and operations, 
and delivering strong M&A growth.  I would also like 
to congratulate the complete PropTech Group team 
for their continued hard work, especially in these 
challenging COVID-19 times.

I would also like to thank the shareholders for their 
continued support of the business.

Simon Baker 
Non – Executive Chairman

Chairman’s 
Letter
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present to you 
the annual report  for the 12 months ending 30 June 2021.  

Simon Baker 
Non – Executive Chairman

6 Chairman’s Letter
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Since re-listing in November 2020 PropTech 
Group has made several strategic acquisitions 
and extended our leading market share of real 
estate agencies using our CRM SaaS products 
in Australia and New Zealand.  

We have doubled our team since re-listing in 
November growing from 51 to 103 as at 30 June 
2021 with a strong focus on expanding the 
product and technology teams along with 
sales and marketing personnel.  Our range of 
SaaS products were expanding throughout 
2021 financial year with the product and 
technology teams dedicated to delivering 
innovative enhancements aimed at 
streamlining, optimising where possible 
automating the way real estate agencies run 
their operations in Australia, New Zealand and 
increasingly the United Kingdom.

Our newly formed centralised business development, 
account management and marketing teams are 
working closely with our customers to help them 
navigate the proptech landscape utilising best in 
breed technology to help streamline their business 
and maximise profitability.

The company achieved a 29% growth in total 
operating revenue, 25% growth in ARR, and 22% 
growth in SaaS revenues in the second half the 
financial year compared to the first half (a better 
reflection of performance than comparing to previous 
year) as a result of increasing ARPA along with 
expanding our market share.

We ended the 2021 financial year strong with 
annualised monthly recurring revenue of $12.4 million.

Looking ahead the Company will continue to drive 
strong growth through a combination of organic and 
inorganic initiatives including :

   ••  continued growth in new customers, expanding 
our product range;

   ••  increasing ARPA; and

   ••   expanding our geographic footprint beginning 
with the United Kingdom

We thank our shareholders for their ongoing support 
and look forward to continuing our strong growth 
throughout FY22 and beyond.

Joe Hanna 
Managing Director and CEO

Managing Director’s 
Report

The 2021 financial year was a 
transformative one for PropTech Group. 

Joe Hanna 
Managing Director and CEO

7Managing Director’s  Report
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Corporate Directory
30 June 2021

Directors Simon Baker (Non-Executive Chairman) 
Sam Plowman (Non-Executive Director) 
Georg Chmiel (Non-Executive Director) 
Joe Hanna (Managing Director and CEO) 
Scott Wulff (Executive Director)

Company secretary Lee Mitchell

Registered office Suite 810 
Level 8 
2 Queen Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000

Principal place of business Level 7  
388 Bourke Street  
Melbourne VIC 3000

Share register Boardroom Pty Ltd 
Level 12 
225 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Australia

Phone: (07) 5655 7588 
enquiries@boardroomlimited.com.au

Auditor RSM Australia Partners 
Level 21 
55 Collins Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000

Solicitors Nicholson Ryan Lawyers Pty Ltd 
Level 7 
416-420 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

Stock exchange listing Proptech Group Limited shares are listed on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX). ASX code: PTG

Website https://proptechgroup.io/ 

Corporate Governance 
Statement

https://proptechgroup.io/investor/ 
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The Directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the Consolidated entity (referred to hereafter 
as the 'Consolidated entity' or 'Group') consisting of PropTech Group Limited (referred to hereafter as the 'Company', 
'Parent entity' or ‘PropTech Group’) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2021.  

Directors 
The following persons were Directors of PropTech Group Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of 
this report, unless otherwise stated: 

Director Position held 

Simon Baker Non-Executive Chairman 

Sam Plowman Non-Executive Director 

Georg Chmiel Non-Executive Director (appointed 1 August 2020) 

Joe Hanna Managing Director & CEO 

Scott Wulff Executive Director (appointed on 19 November 2020) 

Principal activities 
During the financial year, the principal activities of the Consolidated entity, consisted of the investment in, and development 
and sale of real estate software to real estate agencies and investors via its various platforms, these products and services 
were offered mostly throughout Australia, New Zealand, and the United Kingdom. 

Additionally, the Consolidated entity continued to add PropTech products and services via a build, buy or partner strategy. 

Dividends 
No dividend has been declared for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: nil). 

Basis of Preparation 
Acquisition accounting – Reverse Takeover 
On 19 November 2020, PropTech Group Limited completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares in Real Estate CRM Pty 
Ltd (‘RECRM’) and its wholly owned subsidiaries (‘Acquisition’). 

The Acquisition has been accounted for using the principles for reverse acquisitions in AASB 3 Business Combinations, as 
a result of the Acquisition, the former shareholders of RECRM (the legal subsidiary entity) obtained accounting control of the 
Company (the legal Parent entity). 

Accordingly, this consolidated financial report of PropTech Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021 represents a 
continuation of the financial statements of RECRM (on the basis that RECRM is the deemed accounting acquirer), together 
with the results of PropTech Group Limited from the Acquisition date of 19 November 2020.  

It should be noted that the results of the previous corresponding period for the year ended 30 June 2020 (‘PCP’) 
are only for a portion of the year as it was incorporated on the 13 February 2020, any comparatives in these 
financial statements are only the financial results of RECRM pre relisting. 

Consolidated statement 
of: 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 Previous corresponding period (‘PCP’) 

Profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 

RECRM: 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021.  
PropTech Group: 19 November 2020 to 30 June 2021. 

RECRM only for the period from 13 February 
2020 to 30 June 2020. 

Financial position 
RECRM and PropTech Group consolidated as at 30 June 
2021. 

RECRM only as at 30 June 2020. 

Changes in equity 

Equity balances of RECRM as at 1 July 2020, their results for 
the year and transactions with equity holders for the year.  

PropTech Group transactions with equity holders since 19 
November 2020 and its results for the period from 19 
November 2020 to 30 June 2021. 

RECRM only for the period from 13 February 
2020 to 30 June 2020. 

Cash flows 
RECRM: 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021.  

PropTech Group: 19 November 2020 to 30 June 2021. 

RECRM only for the period from 13 February 
2020 to 30 June 2020. 
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Directors' report 

 

30 June 2021 

Review of Operations and Financial Performance 
For the financial year ended 30 June 2021, the Group generated $11,630,378 (2020: $3,001,258) in total revenue and other 
income, which on a statutory basis is an increase of 288% compared to the PCP and incurred a loss after providing for 
income tax amounted to $1,001,353 (2020: $384,581). 

The Group had an underlying EBITDA for the period of $1,927,000 (2020: $552,000), with a net profit after tax of $781,000 
excluding transactions, acquisition and relisting-related expenses.  

The Group’s revenue and underlying EBITDA performance is listed below: 

Half Yearly Performance Full Year Performance 

31-Dec-20 30-Jun-21 Change FY20 FY21 Change 

$'000 $'000 % $'000 $'000 % 

SaaS revenue 4,488 5,479 22% 2,649 9,967 276% 

Other operating revenue 384 822 114% 212 1,206 469% 

Total operating revenue 4,872 6,301 29% 2,861 11,173 291% 

Cost of Sales (471) (716) 52% (309) (1,187) 284% 

Gross profit 4,401 5,585 27% 2,552 9,986 291% 

Gross profit margin % 90% 89% 89% 89% 

Other income 159 298 87% 141 457 224% 

Operating (expenses) (3,146) (5,370) 71% (2,171) (8,516) 292% 

Underlying EBITDA 1,414 513 (64)% 522 1,927 269% 

Underlying EBITDA margin % 29% 8% 18% 17% - 

Reconciliation between statutory results and underlying EBITDA: 

30-Jun-21

$'000 

Underlying EBITDA 1,927 

Transaction, relisting and other expenses 
1,2

 (543) 

EBITDA 1,384 

Depreciation and amortisation (2,219) 

EBIT (835) 

Net finance costs (6) 

Profit before income tax (841) 

Income tax expense (160) 

Statutory net loss after tax (1,001) 
1Transaction and relisting expenses which directly related to the raising of capital (not attributed to equity in accordance with AASB 132), re-compliance 
and acquisitions.  
2

 Includes a one-off bonus of $368,000 to the CEO and CFO for the successful relisting and re-compliance of PropTech Group. 

During the financial year, the Group incurred acquisition and relisting related expenses. These expenses had a direct 
impact on the results of the business and would not have incurred during the ordinary course of business operations, such 
items included ASX re-compliance expenses, transaction costs relating to acquisitions, accounting adjustments that 
related to assessment of the acquisition accounting and the purchase price allocation of the RECRM acquisition as per 
AASB 3. 
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30 June 2021 

Reconciliation between statutory results and net profit after tax excluding acquisition and relisting-related expenses: 

30-Jun-21

$'000 

Statutory net loss after tax (1,001) 

Add Back: 

Transaction, relisting and other expenses 543 

Depreciation and amortisation that relates to acquisition accounting and the purchase price allocation of the 
RECRM acquisition as per AASB 3 for FY21 

1,239 

Net profit after tax excluding acquisition and relisting-related expenses 781 

Cash flows 
As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s cash balance was $6,581,850 (2020: $2,474,815). The increase in cash balance at the 
end of the period was attributed to a capital raise of $10,600,000 (excluding directly attributable costs) and positive net 
cash from operating activities of $1,135,834 (2020: $1,514,968) , offset by investing activities which included deferred and 
contingent payments made for the acquisition of Commerce Australia Pty Ltd (‘MyDesktop’) and the JMCG Pty Ltd 
(‘Website Blue’) acquisition which collectively had a net outflow of $6,081,366.  

During the financial year, the Group had been heavily impacted by substantial outflows which were directly related to the 
raising of capital (not attributed to equity in accordance with AASB 132), ASX re-compliance, transaction costs relating to 
acquisitions and additionally, the Group incurred payments towards old outstanding payables in relation to entities acquired 
during the year (shown as ‘Historical Payables’ in the chart below). On an adjusted basis after removing all the above non-
recurrent one-off outflows, the underlying net cash flows from operating activities for the period is $2,268,000. 

The chart below gives a further breakdown of the reconciliation of statutory net cash flows from operating activities to 
underlying net cash flows from operating activities for the financial year ending 30 June 2021 (presented in $0,000): 

Financial Position  
The net assets of the Group increased from $15,789,320 at 30 June 2020 to $28,928,533 as at 30 June 2021, which was 
the result of the capital raise, the acquisition of Website Blue and H1 platform and the reverse acquisition accounting of 
PropTech Group Limited. The Group had reduced its Vendor Payables (relate to contingent and deferred payments due 
to vendors of businesses and assets acquired) from $9,000,000 due at 30 June 2020 to $4,050,000 due as at 30 June 
2021 of which $3,375,000 is due in the next 12 months. 

During the financial year the Group had completed its assessment of the acquisition accounting and the purchase price 
allocation of the RECRM acquisition as per AASB 3. This had resulted in goodwill being reallocated to other intangible 
assets which were identified as software and customer base, this had resulted in the Group having to amortise these 
assets from the date of acquisition of MyDesktop and Vault Group Pty Limited (‘Vault’) from 13 March 2020.  
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ARR 
The Group continued to grow its Annualised Recurring Revenue (‘ARR’) which increased half year on half year by 
25%, this was the result of the Group continuing to add new products and services, growing its customer base and 
increasing its ARPA. 
.  

Segment Performance 
For the financial year 30 June 2021, the Group continued to offer its SaaS products and services, which are split into two 
separate business units: 

 Business to Consumers (“B2C”) which offers Property Tools to retail property investors in Australia and New Zealand;
and

 Business to Business (“B2B”) which is Real Estate Agent services and products offered to real estate agencies in
Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom.

Both business units on a standalone basis operate profitably from an EBITDA perspective. Recurring SaaS revenue made 
up 89% of the Group’s revenue for the period 

The table below gives an overview to the performance of PropTech Group’s business units: 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

$'000 
B2B B2C1 Corporate2

 PTG 

SaaS revenue 8,985 983 - 9,968 

Other operating revenue 1,186 20 - 1,206 

Total operating revenue 10,171 1,003 - 11,174 

Cost of Sales (797) (390) - (1,187) 

Gross profit 9,374 613 - 9,987 

Gross profit margin % 92% 61% - 89% 

EBITDA3 2,107 200 (923) 1,384

EBITDA margin % 21% 20% - 12% 

1The B2C business unit is only accounted for the period from 19 November 2020 to 30 June 2021. 
2The Corporate business unit is only accounted for the period from 19 November 2020 to 30 June 2021, this only contains items that relate to head office. 
3Includes internal cross charging between the business units. 

B2B 
The Group’s B2B business unit ended the financial year with $10.2 million in operating revenue and an EBITDA of $2.1 
million with an EBITDA margin of 21%. 

During the financial year 2021 the Group added Website Blue and Designly, through acquisition, to its suite of products and 
services which has allowed the Group to offer a more complete range of property technology for its customers. 

The Company also added the H1 platform during the financial year which the Group intends to migrate the current customer 
base to VaultRE the next generation all in one real estate platform including residential, commercial sales CRM and Property 
Management modules. 

$9.9 
million 

$12.4 
million 

December 2020 June 2021 
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The Group continued to grow its B2B business unit with ARPA increasing by 5%, market share up by 11% and number of 
unique PropTech Group customers increasing by 11% when comparing December 2020 to June 2021. 

Metrics – B2B ANZ1 
As at 30 December 

2020 
As at 30 June 2021 Increase 

ARPA $ 201 210 5% 

Market Share2 % 30 34 11% 

No unique customer3 # 3,698 4,115 11% 
1.The metrics do not include Eagle Software
2.Market share of agencies paying for one or more PropTech Group products, ANZ total market size is 12,200 agencies as per the Frost & Sullivan market
report (October 2020) included in the PropTech Group’s prospectus 
3.Agencies paying for one or more PropTech Group products in Australia and New Zealand.

B2C 
The Group’s B2C business unit ended the financial year with $1.0 million in operating revenue and an EBITDA of $0.2 million 
with an EBITDA margin of 20%. 

The Group continued to grow its B2C business unit with ARPU increasing by 6% when comparing December 2020 to June 
2021 as the uptake of higher yielding packages increased, along with a 16% increase in paying users when compared to 
December 2020 which was the result of effective marketing campaigns initiated during the financial year. 

Metric 
As at 30 December 

2020 
As at 30 June 2021 Increase 

ARPU $ 98 104 6% 

Total no paying users # 1,140 1,326 16% 

Total members # 157,524 163,925 4% 

Non-IFRS financial measures 
To assist in the evaluation of the performance of the Group, certain measures are used, that are not recognised under AAS 
or IFRS. These measures are collectively referred to as “non-IFRS financial measures”.  

The non-IFRS financial measures and pro-forma results provide useful information about the financial performance of the 
Group, they should be considered as supplements to the financial statements that have been presented in accordance with 
AAS and IFRS and not as a replacement for them. As these non-IFRS financial measures are not based on AAS or IFRS, 
they do not have standard definitions, and the way the Group has calculated these measures may differ from similarly titled 
measures used by other companies. Investors and readers of this financial report should therefore not place undue reliance 
on these non-IFRS financial measures. 

The table below gives reference to non-IFRS financial measures that have been mentioned in this financial report: 

Non-IFRS financial measure Definition 

AMRR or ARR Annualised monthly recurring revenue (AMRR) or Annualised recurring revenue (ARR) 
represents monthly recurring revenue for the relevant month, multiplied by 12 (i.e. June 
2021 run-rate). It provides a 12 month forward looking view of recurring revenue if all factors 
such as new, churn, pricing and foreign exchange were to remain the same for that period.  

ARPA Average Revenue Per Agency per month. 

ARPU Average Revenue Per User per month. 

EBIT Earnings/ (losses) before interest (net finance income) and taxation. 

EBITDA Represents earnings before interest, income tax expenses, depreciation, and amortisation. 

Underlying EBITDA Underlying EBITDA has been adjusted to eliminate the effects of interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortisation, fair value adjustments, impairment expenses, loss on disposal on assets 
and any other non-operating items (Share basedpayments, bad debts, transactions and 
acquisition costs, relisting and capital raise costs, foreign currency translation differences 
and any other one-off transaction). 

Underlying net cash flows from operating activities The Underlying net cash flows from operating activities provides a better view of the 
operating performance of the business by eliminating one-off costs that would not have 
usually occurred during the period, such costs relate to historical payables, transaction and 
acquisitions costs and relisting costs. 
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Covid-19 Impact 
Up to 30 June 2021, the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has not had a significant impact on the results of the 
Consolidated entity’s performance. A thriving real estate industry, combined with the Consolidated entity growth through 
acquisition resulted in an increase in sales. 
 
Significant changes in the state of affairs 
Name Change 
During the period, the Company had changed its name from Real Estate Investar Group Ltd to the PropTech Group 
Limited, along with its ASX issuer code which was changed from “REV” to “PTG”. 
 
Share Consolidation 
On 6 October 2020, the Company completed a share consolidation of 20:1, the share consolidation resulted in the existing 
number of fully paid ordinary shares outstanding of 233,205,108 being consolidated to 11,660,308 fully paid ordinary 
shares. 
 
Acquisition of RECRM  
On 19 November 2020, the PropTech Group Limited completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares in Real Estate CRM 
Pty Ltd and its wholly owned subsidiaries. In consideration for the Acquisition, PropTech Group issued a total of 64,900,048 
fully paid ordinary shares to the shareholders of RECRM in consideration for the Company’s acquisition of 100% of the 
issued capital in RECRM. 
 
Capital Raise 
During November 2020, the Company completed a capital raise of $10,600,000 (before share-issue costs) by the issue of 
42,400,000 fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.25 each. 
 
Historical Payables  
2,344,064 fully paid ordinary shares were issued to satisfy a portion of the historical remuneration entitlements owed to Key 
Management Personal and Directors. 
 
Ray White Agreement 
On 22 February 2021, the Group entered into a two-year agreement with the Ray White Group that will see it remain as the 
Group’s largest customer and migrate its franchisees’ sales CRM systems from MyDesktop to VaultRE. 
 
Acquisition of Website Blue 
On 6 March 2021 the PropTech Group acquired 100% of the ordinary shares of JMCG Pty Limited (trading as “Website 
Blue”) for a potential total consideration of $1,500,000, which consists of 3 tranches.  
 

 Initial Consideration - $750,000 consisting of $150,000 paid in cash and $600,000 paid in PropTech Group shares 
at a 30-day trading VWAP from date of signing of the Share purchase agreement, less working capital adjustment 
paid to PropTech Group for the amount of $68,633.74; 

 First Year Earn Out – $375,000 to be issued in cash or shares at PropTech Group’s discretion, provided specific 
hurdles are met, assessable 12 months from the acquisition date; and 

 Second Year Earn Out – $375,000 to be issued in cash or shares at PropTech Group’s discretion, provided 
specific hurdles are met, assessable 24 months from the acquisition date 

 
Based in Brisbane, QLD, Website Blue offers real estate agencies a full-service web design package along with a product 
called ‘Designly’ which enables agencies to deploy and manage marketing assets and campaigns. 
 
Acquisition of H1 Platform  
On 31 March 2021, the PropTech Group acquired assets which relate to H1, from Harcourts International Limited which 
included the H1 technology platform, along with the associated goodwill and intellectual property for a potential total 
consideration of $600,000, which consists of 2 tranches.     
 

 Initial Consideration - $300,000 paid in PropTech Group shares at a 30-day trading VWAP as at signing of the asset 
sale agreement ; and 

 Contingent Consideration - $300,000 paid in PropTech Group shares at a 30-day trading VWAP in the event that 
more than 80% of Harcourts Australian and New Zealand franchisee network migrate to the PropTech Group’s 
VaultRE CRM within an agreed timeframe 
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H1 is a full-service real estate sales CRM that was first developed by Harcourts in 1998. Today over 650 Harcourts franchise 
offices use H1 to operate their businesses with over 600 being in Australia and New Zealand. The remaining Harcourts 
offices using H1 are in South Africa and Indonesia. 
 
There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated entity during the financial year. 
 
Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
Acquisition of Eagle 
The Company entered into a Share Sale and Purchase Agreement on the 28 June 2021, for the acquisition of 100% of the 
ordinary shares in Eagle Software Pty Ltd (‘Eagle’). The total consideration for this acquisition is $15,000,000 (including 
contingent consideration of $7,500,000) which will be settled by a combination of cash and equity interests of the Company. 
The effective date of acquisition of Eagle is 1 July 2021.  
 
Eagle Software is an innovative and modern real estate CRM, website and marketing solution provider focused on 
independent, boutique and small multi-office real estate agencies. Currently, it is used by more than 800 agency offices 
across Australia and New Zealand. 
 
The acquisition of Eagle Software advances PropTech Group’s objective to own, operate and invest in high-quality property 
technology businesses that primarily focus on the Australian, New Zealand and United Kingdom residential and commercial 
real estate markets. 
 
Capital Raise 
During July 2021, the Company completed a capital raise of $ 15,506,398 (before share-issue costs) by the issue of 
21,536,664 fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.72 each.  
 
FinTech Joint Venture 
On the 18 August 2021, the PropTech Group signed a Non-Binding Term Sheet to enter into a joint venture with Flip 
Money Pyl Ltd, Convini Pty Ltd and BC Investment Group Australia Pty Ltd to incorporate a new entity PropPay Holdings 
Pty Ltd (PropPay). PropTech Group will begin with a 20% shareholding in PropPay Holdings Pty Ltd with the right to earn 
in additional equity based on revenue contribution performance. 
 
PropPay is a payments platform that will allow real estate agency operators and third-party platforms to offer payments and 
buy now pay later (BNPL) solutions to their customers for real estate related services. 
 
COVID-19 
The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while the Consolidated entity has not been negatively 
impacted up to 30 June 2021, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting 
date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Australian Government and other 
countries, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that 
may be provided. 
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2021 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
Consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the Consolidated entity's state of affairs in future financial 
years. 
 
Likely developments and expected results of operations 
Management’s focus for the Group is to continue its growth strategy which is focusing on 4 key pillars: 
 

 Increase in Market Share: Increase market share of ANZ real estate agencies that use at least one PropTech 
Group product; 

 Expand Product Range: Acquire, build or partner with companies that complement and extend capabilities through 
deep integration with PropTech Group’s leading CRM assets; 

 Grow ARPA: Centralised new business, account management and marketing teams focused on upselling and 
cross selling suite of PropTech Group products to existing and new customers; and 

 Open New Geographies: Increase presence in the UK and other international markets through organic growth and 
potential M&A opportunities. 

 
Information about the expected results of those operations in future financial years has not been included in this report 
because disclosure of the information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 
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Environmental regulation 
The Consolidated entity is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State 
law. 

Information on directors 
The following information is current at the date of this report. 
  

Simon Baker - Non-Executive Chairman 

Date of appointment 15 November 2010 

Experience and expertise 

Simon is an experienced Chairman with substantial commercial 
experience and knowledge within the global real estate technology 
sector gained through positions as chairman and as a significant 
investor in numerous businesses. 

From 2015 to 2019, Simon was the independent Non-Executive 
Chairman of ASX listed Mitula Group Limited (ASX: MUA), a 
leading player in the global online classifieds industry. Mitula Group 
Limited (ASX: MUA) was successfully sold to a Japanese listed 
company Lifull Co Ltd (TYO: 2120) in January 2019. 

Simon was the former CEO and Managing Director of the ASX 
listed REA Group from 2001 through 2008. Simon was also the 
Chairman of ASX listed iProperty Group Limited from 2009 to 2012. 

Simon is a serial investor, and has invested in many successful 
online classifieds and e-commerce companies around the world 
including Grupo Zap, Redbubble (ASX:RBL), Mitula Group 
(ASX:MUA), iProperty Group (ASX:IPP), Vertical Networks Group, 
Fintonic, Lifull (TSE:2120), Juwai IQI, and many others. 

Simon holds a Bachelor of Science with a major in Computer 
Science from Monash University and a Master of Business 
Administration from the Melbourne Business School. 

 

Other current Australian listed 
directorships Nil 

Former Australian listed company 
Directorships in last 3 years 

Non-executive chairman of Mitula Group Limited (ASX: MUA) 

Appointed 1 April 2015 and Retired 8 January 2019 

Special Responsibilities 

Chairman of the Board  

Member of the Audit Committee 

Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Interests in Ordinary Shares 11,118,853 

Interests in Options Nil 

Interests in Rights Nil 
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Sam Plowman - Non-Executive Director 

Date of appointment 29 January 2019 

Experience and expertise 

Sam has extensive experience in the PropTech and FinTech 
industries. He is the former General Manager of Domain, headed 
up online banking at both ANZ and NAB, was the CEO at fin tech 
company Sandstone, and is currently the CEO at Payment Logic.  

From a corporate governance perspective, Sam is the Chairman of 
Vertical Networks Group - the owner and operator of Artshub and 
Screenhub, Australia's leading Arts' new sites, and Property Portal 
Watch, the global leader in online real estate news and 
conferences. 

Sam holds a Bachelor of Business with a major in Marketing from 
RMIT, and a Graduate Diploma in Finance from the Securities 
Institute of Australia. 

 

Other current Australian listed 
directorships Nil 

Former Australian listed company 
Directorships in last 3 years Nil 

Special Responsibilities 
Chairman of the Audit Committee 

Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Interests in Ordinary Shares 5,778,526 

Interests in Options 200,000 

Interests in Rights Nil 
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Georg Chmiel- Non-Executive Director 

Date of appointment 1 August 2020 

Experience and expertise 

Georg brings over 25 years of experience in the online media, real estate 
and financial services industry. Georg is Executive Chair of Juwai IQI 
Holdings, one of Asia’s largest PropTech platforms in Asia with more than 
12,000 sales agents and leading portals. 

Previously he was Managing Director and CEO of iProperty Group 
(ASX:IPP), the owner of Asia’s No. 1 network of property portal sites. He 
played a key role in finalising the sale of iProperty Group to REA Group. 

Prior to iProperty Group, Georg was Managing Director and CEO of LJ 
Hooker Group with 700 offices across 10 countries providing residential and 
commercial real estate as well as financial service. Before that, Georg was 
CFO of REA Group (ASX:REA). 

Georg holds an MBA from INSEAD (France) and Diplom-Informatiker 
(Computer Science) Degree from TU Munich (Germany). 

Georg is a CPA (USA) and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. Georg has over 25 years of experience in growth business, 
especially in the real estate and online industry. Georg is the recipient of the 
Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Award in 2016 and the Top Outstanding 
Leaders Asia Award in 2015. 

 

Other current Australian listed 
directorships 

Executive Chair of iCar Asia Limited (ASX: ICQ) 

Non-Executive Director of Centrepoint Alliance Limited 
(ASX:CAF) 

Non-Executive Director of Butn Limited (ASX:BTN) 

Former Australian listed company 
Directorships in last 3 years Non-Executive Director of Mitula Group Limited (ASX: MUA)  

Special Responsibilities 
Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Member of the Audit Committee 

Interests in Ordinary Shares 320,834 

Interests in Options Nil 

Interests in Rights Nil 
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Joe Hanna - Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

Date of appointment 
1 January 2019 (previously Non-Executive Director from 15 
October 2015) 

Experience and expertise 

Joe has extensive product and technology experience with online classifieds, 
search and SaaS. He is a serial entrepreneur, having co-founded 
PredictiveMatch: a behavioral classifieds recommendation technology 
company, xLabs: an AI tech company delivering world leading webcam eye 
tracking software, and ModernSearch (Acquired by Mitula in 2010). 

From 2015 to 2019, Joe served as a Non-Executive Director of ASX listed 
Mitula Group Limited (ASX: MUA), a leading player in the global online 
classifieds industry. Mitula Group Limited (ASX: MUA) was successfully sold 
to a Japanese listed company Lifull Co Ltd (TYO: 2120) in January 2019. 

In November 2010 ModernSearch (a company Joe founded and grew in 
2010) merged with Mitula Classifieds SL. From Nov 2010 - Oct 2012 Joe 
served as Mitula Classifieds South East Asia CEO and was responsible for 
growing presence in key South East Asian markets, and helped shape the 
companies product and technology strategy. 

Previously Joe spent 8 years at Fairfax Media Limited in senior roles 
including: Product and Technology Director – Online Employment at CIO 
Advantate, and Emerging Business and Technology Manager at The Age. 

Joe holds a Bachelor of Business with a major in Computing from Victoria 
University. 

 

Other current Australian listed 
directorships Nil 

Former Australian listed company 
Directorships in last 3 years 

Non-Executive Director of Mitula Group Limited (ASX: MUA).  

Appointed 1 April 2015 and Retired 8 January 2019 

Non-executive Chairman of Latam Autos Limited (ASX: LAA) 

Appointed 26 July 2019 to current; ASX De-listing on 8 May 2020 

 

Special Responsibilities Nil 

Interests in Ordinary Shares 4,530,421 

Interests in Options 200,000  

Interests in Rights Nil 
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Scott Wulff – Executive Director 

Date of appointment 19 November 2020 

Experience and expertise 

Scott is one the founders of Vault Group Pty Ltd, the developer of the 
VaultRE and Rentfind Inspector technologies. Scott is also an executive 
director of Real Estate CRM. 

Prior to the formation of Vault Group, Scott and the core development team 
created and commercialised the MyDesktop system. 

Scott has a Commerce degree majoring in accounting and prior to his 
PropTech experience, he was a project finance executive for a major 
multinational. 

 

Other current Australian listed 
directorships Nil 

Former Australian listed company 
Directorships in last 3 years Nil 

Special Responsibilities Nil 

Interests in Ordinary Shares 5,157,856 

Interests in Options Nil 

Interests in Rights Nil 
 
 
Company secretary 
Mr Lee Mitchell BA LLM has held the position of company secretary for the year and was appointed company secretary on 
31 July 2015. He is responsible for legal services and regulatory matters. He holds a Master of Laws from the University of 
Melbourne.  
 
Mr Mitchell has over 20 years’ experience in corporate and commercial law and is a former partner of Logie-Smith Lanyon 
Lawyers, practicing principally in corporate law advising on corporate and securities regulation, capital raisings, formulation 
and implementation of mergers and acquisitions, corporate governance and ASX compliance matters. Since May 2016, Mr 
Mitchell established his own practice and is the director of Convergence Legal.  Convergence Legal merged with Nicholson 
Ryan lawyers on 1 September 2018 with Mr Mitchell becoming a Director. 

Meetings of directors 
The number of meetings of the Company's Board of Directors ('the Board') and of each Board committee held during the 
year ended 30 June 2021, and the number of meetings attended by each director were: 
  

Director’s name        Board meetings Audit committee 
Nomination and remuneration 

committee 
       A       B     A    B  A B 

Simon Baker      11      11     -     -  -  - 

Sam Plowman      11      11     -     -             -  - 

 Georg Chmiel      10      9     -     -             -  - 

Joe Hanna      11       11     -     -  -  - 

Scott Wulff      6       5     -     -             -  - 
 

 
Where: 
● Column A is the number of meetings the director was entitled to attend; and 
● Column B is the number of meetings the director attended 
 
Audit Committee and Nomination and Remuneration Committee matters were dealt with in meetings of the Board. 
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Remuneration report (audited) 
The remuneration report details the Key Management Personnel (‘KMP’) remuneration arrangements for the Consolidated 
entity, in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. 
  
Key Management Personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including all directors. 
  
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 
●  Key Management Personnel; 
●  Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration; 
●  Details of remuneration; 
●  Service agreements; 
●  Share-based compensation; 
●  Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel; and 
●  Additional information. 

 

Key Management Personnel 
For the purposes of this report, KMP include all Directors of the Board (Executive and Non-Executive) and Senior 
Executives who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group as 
outlined below for the financial year ended 30 June 2021. 
 

Name Position Held 

Non-Executive Directors 

Simon Baker Non-Executive Chairman 

Sam Plowman Non-Executive Director 

Georg Chmiel Non-Executive Director 

Executive Directors 

Joe Hanna Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

Scott Wulff Executive Director 

Senior Executives 

Michael Fiorenza Chief Financial Officer 
 

 
Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
The objective of the Consolidated entity's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive 
and appropriate for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with the achievement of strategic objectives 
and the creation of value for shareholders, and it is considered to conform to the market best practice for the delivery of 
reward.  
 
The Board of Directors ('the Board') ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward 
governance practices: 
 
●  competitiveness and reasonableness; 
●  acceptability to shareholders; 
●  performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation; and 
●  transparency. 
  
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for 
its directors and executives. The performance of the Consolidated Entity depends on the quality of its directors and 
executives. The remuneration philosophy is to attract, motivate and retain high performance and high-quality personnel. 
  
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market 
competitive and complementary to the reward strategy of the Consolidated Entity. 
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The reward framework is designed to align executive reward to shareholders' interests. The Board have considered that it 
should seek to enhance shareholders' interests by: 
●  having economic profit as a core component of plan design; 
●  focusing on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of dividends and growth in share price, and delivering 

constant or increasing return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers of value; and 
●  attracting and retaining high calibre executives. 
  
Additionally, the reward framework should seek to enhance executives' interests by: 
●  rewarding capability and experience; 
●  reflecting competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth; and 
●  providing a clear structure for earning rewards. 
  
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non-Executive Director and Executive Director 
remuneration is separate. 
  
Non-Executive Directors remuneration 
 
Fees and payments to Non-Executive Directors reflect the demands and responsibilities of their role. Non-Executive 
Directors' fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee may, from time to time, receive advice from independent remuneration consultants to ensure Non-
Executive Directors' fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market. The Chairman's fees are determined 
independently to the fees of other Non-Executive Directors based on comparative roles in the external market. The Chairman 
is not present at any discussions relating to the determination of his own remuneration. 
  
ASX listing rules require the aggregate Non-Executive Directors' remuneration be determined periodically by a general 
meeting. The most recent determination was at the Annual General Meeting held on 30 November 2020 where the 
shareholders approved a maximum annual aggregate remuneration of $500,000. 
 
The total fees paid to directors during the year did not exceed the approved limit. The following table sets out the current 
approved fee structure: 
 

Role 

Per Annum 

$ 

Board Chair 65,000 

Chair - Nomination & Remuneration Committee 5,000 

Chair - Audit Committee 10,000 

Board Member 45,000 
 

Executive remuneration 
The Consolidated Entity aims to reward executives based on their position and responsibility, with a level and mix of 
remuneration which has both fixed and variable components. 
  
The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components: 
●  base pay and non-monetary benefits; 
●  short-term performance incentives; 
●  share-based payments; and 
●  other remuneration such as superannuation and long service leave. 
  
The combination of these comprises the executive's total remuneration. 
  
Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefits, are reviewed annually by the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee based on individual and the overall performance of the Consolidated Entity and 
comparable market remunerations. 
  
Executives may receive their fixed remuneration in the form of cash or other fringe benefits (for example motor vehicle 
benefits) where it does not create any additional costs to the Consolidated Entity and provides additional value to the 
executive. 
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The short-term incentives ('STI') program is designed to align the targets of the business with the performance hurdles of 
executives. STI is an annual “at risk” opportunity awarded to Executive KMP based on specific annual targets and key 
performance indicators. Performance conditions are clearly defined and measurable and designed to support the financial 
and strategic direction of the business and in turn translate to shareholder return. 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2021, the Board approved STI’s for the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
which are based on the achievement of three key performance hurdles that are independently assessed, and carry the 
weighing outlined in the table below: 
 

FY21 Short Term Incentive Performance Hurdles Allocation 
Revenue Target 35% 

EBITDA Target 35% 

M&A  30% 

 
In the event Financial Performance Targets are between the base and expected performance range, or expected and 
stretch performance range, the payment will be apportioned between the levels of performance. Payment on the 
achievement of Financial Performance targets under the STI Plan are capped at 120%. 
 
An additional one-off bonus for financial year 2021 was granted for a successful relisting and re-compliance to the ASX for 
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 
 
Any STI and bonus’ are to be paid in cash or at the discretion of the employee to take this amount in equity at a price 
agreed with the Company. If the KMP chooses to take equity it may be subject to shareholders approval. 
 
The Group does not currently have a long-term incentives ('LTI') plan but may seek to introduce one in the coming year. 

Details of remuneration 
Amounts of remuneration 
Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the Consolidated entity are set out in the following tables: 
 

Post RECRM-Acquisition   
Post 

employee 
benefit 

Long 
term 

benefits 
Share based payments  

Post 19 November 20201 Salary & 
fees 

Bonus 
(STI) 3 

Superann
uation 

Long 
service 
leave 

Equity 
settled 
options 

Equity 
settled 
shares 

Total 
Performance 
based % of 

remuneration 

FY 2021 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-Executive Directors 

Simon Baker 46,666 - - - - - 46,666 0% 

Sam Plowman 36,667 - 3,483 - 5,486 - 45,636 0% 

Georg Chmiel 30,000 - 2,850 - - - 32,850 0% 

Executive Directors 

Joe Hanna4,6 206,667 367,000 13,304 - - - 586,971 63% 

Scott Wulff2 120,000 - 11,400 - - - 131,400 0% 

Other Executive KMP 

Michael Fiorenza5,7 153,333 202,000 12,665 - - - 367,998 55% 

Total 593,333 569,000 43,702 - 5,486 - 1,211,521 47% 

1  Relates to remuneration from 19 November 2020 to 30 June 2021  

2  Became a KMP from 19 November 2020 

3  The bonus component has been accrued and not paid as at the date of this report.  

4 
 The STI component is split into 2 tranches, 1) STI – Performance based on STI Performance Hurdles being achieved amounting to $137,000 and 
2) A one off bonus was granted for a successful relisting and re-compliance to the ASX in the total of $230,000.  

5 
 The STI component is split into 2 tranches, 1) STI – Performance based on STI Performance Hurdles being achieved amounting to $64,000 and 2) 
A one off bonus was granted for a successful relisting and re-compliance to the ASX in the total of $138,000. 

6  Consultancy agreement was terminated at relisting and an employment agreement was entered into between Joe Hanna and PropTech Group  

7 
 Consultancy agreement was terminated at relisting and an employment agreement was entered into between Michael Fiorenza and PropTech 
Group  
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Pre RECRM-Acquisition1 Short term employee 
benefits 

Post 
employee 

benefit 

Long 
term 

benefits 
Share based payments  

Pre 19 November 20202 Salary & 
fees 

Bonus 
(STI)  

Superannu
ation 

Long 
service 
leave 

Equity 
settled 
options 

Equity 
settled 
shares 

Total 
Performance 
based % of 

remuneration 

FY 2021 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-Executive Directors 

Simon Baker 23,334 - - - - - 23,334 0% 

Sam Plowman 18,333 - 1,742 - - - 20,075 0% 

Georg Chmiel3 11,250 - 356 - - - 11,606 0% 

Executive Directors 

Joe Hanna4 103,333 - - - - - 103,333 0% 

Other Executive KMP 

Michael Fiorenza5 76,667 - - - - - 76,667 0% 

Total 232,917 - 2,098 - - - 235,015 0% 
 

1  Represents remuneration for PropTech Group Limited (formally known as Real Estate Investar Limited) prior to the RECRM Acquisition 

2  Relates to remuneration from 1 July 2020 to 19 November 2020 

3  Appointed 1 August 2020 

4  Consultancy agreement was terminated at relisting and an employment agreement was entered into between Joe Hanna and PropTech Group  

5 
 Consultancy agreement was terminated at relisting and an employment agreement was entered into between Michael Fiorenza and PropTech 
Group  

  
  

 
Short term employee 

benefits 

Post 
employee 

benefit 

Long 
term 

benefits 
Share based payments  

 
Salary & 

fees3 
Bonus 
(STI)2 

Superann
uation 

Long 
service 
leave 

Equity 
settled 
options 

Equity 
settled 

shares 2 
Total 

Performance 
based % of 

remuneration 

FY 20201 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-Executive Directors 

Simon Baker 60,000 - - - - - 60,000 0% 

Sam Plowman 40,000 - - - 9,404  49,404 0% 

Executive Directors 

Joe Hanna 239,166 161,250 - - - - 400,416 40% 

Other Executive KMP 

Michael Fiorenza 135,000 63,750 - - - - 198,750 32% 

Total 474,166 225,000 - - 9,404 - 708,570 32% 

1 
 Represents remuneration for PropTech Group Limited (formally known as Real Estate Investar Group Limited) for financial year 2020.  All 

remuneration was payable at 30 June 2020 and settled in FY21. 

2 
 These were settled in a combination of shares and cash on 19 November 2020 as part of  the relisting process 

3 
 Any amounts that were not settled by cash were settled in the form of equity 19 November 2020 as part of the relisting process 
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Service agreements 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for executive key management personnel are formalised in service 
agreements. Details of these agreements are as follows: 
  
Joe Hanna - Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
Pre 19 November 2020 
Agreement commenced:  Consultancy agreement from 1 January 2019 
Term of agreement:  No fixed term, reviewed at the end of each financial year with a fee review. 
Details:  Base salary of $310,000 per annum 
Notice Period  3-month termination notice by either party 
Post 19 November 2020 
Agreement commenced:  Employment agreement from 19 November 2020 
Term of agreement:  Ongoing until either party gives notice 
Details:  Base salary of $310,000 plus superannuation, to be reviewed annually by the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee., at-risk’ STI and LTI (once established), 
subject to annual performance review by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
 
Additionally a one-off bonus for financial year 2021 was granted for a successful 
relisting and re-compliance to the ASX in the total of $230,000. 

Notice Period  6-month termination notice by either party 
 

 

Michael Fiorenza - Chief Financial Officer 

Pre 19 November 2020 
Agreement commenced:  Consultancy agreement from 1 January 2019 
Term of agreement:  No fixed term, reviewed at the end of each financial year with a fee review. 
Details:  Base salary of $230,000 per annum 
Notice Period  3-month termination notice by either party 
Post 19 November 2020 
Agreement commenced:  Employment agreement from 19 November 2020 
Term of agreement:  Ongoing until either party gives notice 
Details:  Base salary of $230,000 plus superannuation, to be reviewed annually by the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee., at-risk’ STI and LTI (once established), 
subject to annual performance review by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
 
Additionally a one-off bonus for financial year 2021 was granted for a successful 
relisting and re-compliance to the ASX in the total of $138,000.  

Notice Period  6-month termination notice by either party 
 

  

Scott Wulff – Executive director 
Agreement commenced:1  3 Jan 2017 
Term of agreement:  Ongoing until either party gives notice 
Details:  Base salary of $180,000 plus superannuation, to be reviewed annually along with any 

incentives by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
Notice Period  12-month termination notice by either party 
1Commencement date relates to the date Scott Wulff commenced with Vault. 
 
Key management personnel have no entitlement to termination payments in the event of removal for misconduct. F
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Share-based compensation 
Issue of shares 
Details of shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 
30 June 2021 are set out below: 

 Simon Baker was issued 494,318 shares in lieu of accrued Directors fees from financial year 2019 and 2020, these 
were issued on 19 November 2020;  

 Sam Plowman was issued 194,301shares in lieu of accrued Directors fees from financial year 2019 and 2020, 
these were issued on 19 November 2020;  

 Joe Hanna was issued 1,207,623 shares in lieu of Directors fees and Executive Remuneration from financial year 
2019 and 2020, these were issued on 19 November 2020; and 

 Michael Fiorenza was issued 447,822 shares in lieu of Directors fees and Executive Remuneration from financial 
year 2019 and 2020, these were issued on 19 November 2020 

Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel 
Shareholding 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other members of key management 
personnel of the Consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 
 

FY 2021 
Balance 1 July 

20201 
Received as 

remuneration2 

Acquisitions 
during the year 

(on market)3 
Other changes4 Disposals 

Balance 30 
June 2021 

Simon Baker 3,924,419 494,318 - 6,000,000 - 10,418,737 

Sam Plowman - 194,301 - 5,444,224 - 5,638,525 

Georg Chmiel5 - - 300,000 - - 300,000 

Joe Hanna 1,322,798 1,207,623 - 2,000,000 - 4,530,421 

Scott Wulff6 - - - 5,157,856 - 5,157,856 

Michael Fiorenza 108,175 447,822 - 1,000,048 - 1,556,045 

Total 5,355,392 2,344,064 300,000 19,602,128 - 27,601,584 

1 
 On 6 October 2020, the Company completed a share consolidation of 20:1, for consistency these numbers have been restated to reflect the 
consolidation. 

2  Conversion shares of 2,344,066 were issued in lieu of accrued directors fees and executive remuneration which related to financial years 2019 and 
2020 ($498,996).  

3  Shares issued during the capital raise that took place in November 2020. 

4  Relate to the consideration shares that were issued as part of the RECRM acquisition on a scrip for scrip basis. All shares issued to directors and 
executives are escrowed for 24 months from 19 November 2021. 

5  Appointed 1 August 2020. 

6  Appointed 19 November 2020. 
 

 

FY 20201 Balance 1 July 
20192 

Received as 
remuneration 

Acquisitions 
during the year 

(on market) 
Other changes Disposals 

Balance 30 
June 20202 

Simon Baker 3,924,419 - - - - 3,924,419 

Sam Plowman - - - - - - 

Joe Hanna 1,322,798 - - - - 1,322,798 

Michael Fiorenza 108,175 - - - - 108,175 

Total 5,355,392 - - - - 5,355,392 

1  Relates to shares held in PropTech Group Limited (formally known as Real Estate Investar Group Limited). 

2 
 On 6 October 2020, the Company completed a share consolidation of 20:1, for consistency these numbers have been restated to reflect the 
consolidation. 
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Shares under option 
 
Unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option at the date of this report are as follows: 
  

FY 2021 Grant date Options granted1 Exercisable date Expiry date 
Value per option 

at grant date1 

Total value of 
option at grant 

date 

Exercise price 
per option1 

 Sam Plowman 29-Jan-19 200,000 29-Jan-21 27-Jan-23 $0.24 $48,000 $0.24 

 Joe Hanna 29-Nov-18 200,000 29-Nov-18 30-Nov-23 $0.30 $60,000 $0.30 

 Michael Fiorenza 31-Jan-19 200,000 31-Jan-19 30-Jan-23 $0.30 $60,000 $0.30 

1 
 On 6 October 2020, the Company completed a share consolidation of 20:1, for consistency these numbers have been restated to reflect the 
consolidation. 

 
All share options relate to ordinary shares of the Company. During the financial year, 147,500 options had expired.  
 
No options were granted as equity compensation benefits to key management personnel during the years ended 30 
June 2021 and 30 June 2020 
 
Option holding 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other 
members of key management personnel of the Consolidated entity, including their personally related parties as at 30 June 
2021, is set out below: 
 

FY 2021 
Balance 1 
July 20201` 

Granted 
during year 

Exercised 
during year 

Expired 
during year 

Vested during 
year 

Balance 30 
June 2021 

unexercisable 

Balance 30 
June 2021 
vested and 
exercisable 

Simon Baker 25,000 - - (25,000) - - - 

Sam Plowman - - - - 200,000 - 200,000 

Joe Hanna 225,000 - - (25,000) - - 200,000 

Michael Fiorenza 200,000 - - - - - 200,000 

Total 450,000 - - (50,000) 200,000 - 600,000 

1 
 On 6 October 2020, the Company completed a share consolidation of 20:1, for consistency these numbers have been restated to reflect the 
consolidation. 

 

 

FY 20201 Balance 1 
July 20192 

Granted 
during year 

Exercised 
during year 

Expired 
during year 

Vested during 
year 

Balance 30 
June 2020 

unexercisable
2 

Balance 30 
June 2020 
vested and 

exercisable2 

Simon Baker 25,000 - - - - - 25,000 

Sam Plowman 200,000 - - - - 200,000 - 

Joe Hanna 225,000 - - - - - 225,000 

Michael Fiorenza 200,000 - - - - - 200,000 

Total 650,000 - - - - 200,000 450,000 

1  Represents options for PropTech Group Limited (formally known as Real Estate Investar Limited) for financial year ended 2020. 

2 
 On 6 October 2020, the Company completed a share consolidation of 20:1, for consistency these numbers have been restated to reflect the 
consolidation. 

 

 
Other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties 
During the financial year, payments for Sales Director services from Vertical Network Group Pty Limited (director-related 
entity of Simon Baker) of $83,234 (excluding GST) were made. All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and 
conditions and at market rates. (see note 28 to the financial statements further detail) 
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Additional information 
The following shows the Group’s total revenue and other income, total operating revenue, EBITDA, losses and factors that 
are considered to affect total shareholders return ('TSR') for the five years to 30 June 2021 are summarised below; 
 

 2021 2020 

 $ $ 

Total revenue and other income ($'000) 11,630 3,001 

Total operating revenue ($'000) 11,173 2,861 

EBITDA ($'000) 1,384 522 

Loss after income tax (1,001) (385) 

Basic losses per share for the year (cents per share) (1.00) (0.73)  

Share price at financial year end ($) 0.80 N/A 
 

 
This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited. 
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Indemnity and insurance of officers 
The Company has indemnified the directors and executives of the Company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 
  
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of the 
Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 
  
Indemnity and insurance of auditor 
The Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 
  
During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the Company 
or any related entity. 
  
Proceedings on behalf of the Company 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf 
of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility 
on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 
  
Non-audit services 
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor 
are outlined in note 26 to the financial statements. 
  
The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another 
person or firm on the auditor's behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements do not compromise the 
external auditor's independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 
●  all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity 

of the auditor; and 
●  none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code 

of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, including 
reviewing or auditing the auditor's own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the Company, 
acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards. 

  
Rounding of amounts 
The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to 'rounding-off'. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Corporations Instrument to the nearest dollar. 
 
Auditor's independence declaration 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
immediately after this directors' report. 
 
Auditor 
RSM Australia Partners continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 
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This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
  
On behalf of the directors 
  
  
  
  
___________________________ 
Simon Baker 
Chairman 
  
30 August 2021 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

 
 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of PropTech Group Limited and its controlled entities for the 

year ended 30 June 2021, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 

contraventions of: 

 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 
 
RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 
 

 
 

R J MORILLO MALDONADO 

Partner 

 

 

Dated: 30 August 2021 

Melbourne, Victoria 
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    Consolidated 
  Notes  2021  2020 
    $  $ 
       
Revenue  5  11,173,773  2,860,676 
       
Other income  6  456,605  140,582 
Total revenue and other income    11,630,378  3,001,258 
      
Expenses       
Employee benefits   19  (6,436,109)  (1,254,388) 
Operating costs  7  (3,581,166)  (881,617) 
Depreciation and amortisation   7  (2,218,374)  (824,799) 
Other expenses  7  (229,730)  (344,589) 
       
Net Finance costs  7  (5,665)  (4,496) 
       
Loss before income tax expense    (840,666)  (308,631) 
       
Income tax expense  14  (160,687)  (75,950) 
       
Loss after income tax expenses for the year attributable to the owners of 
PropTech Group Limited 

 
 

 
(1,001,353) 

 
(384,581) 

       
       
Other comprehensive income, net of tax       
       
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss       
Foreign currency translation differences    (5,651)  14,589 
       
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax    (5,651)  14,589 
       
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the owners of PropTech 
Group Limited 

 
 

 
(1,007,004) 

 
(369,992) 

 
 
 

Earnings / (loss) per share    Cents  Cents 
       
Basic (loss) per share  35  (1.00)  (0.73) 
Diluted (loss) per share  35  (1.00)  (0.73) 
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    Consolidated 
  Notes  2021  2020 
    $  $ 
Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents  8  6,581,850  2,474,815 
Trade and other receivables  9  527,260  168,890 
Contract assets  10  256,626  159,872 
Other financial assets at amortised cost    150,000  - 
Current tax asset  14  137,560  - 
Prepayments and other assets  11  300,594  22,518 
Total current assets    7,953,890  2,826,095 
       
Non-current assets       
Plant and equipment  12  424,899  18,014 
Intangible assets  13  29,410,110  24,529,562 
Deferred tax assets  14  373,952  557,756 
Total non-current assets    30,208,961  25,105,332 
       
Total assets    38,162,851  27,931,427 
       
       
Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables  15  2,656,059  1,034,921 
Contract liabilities  16  251,932  - 
Vendor payables  17  3,375,000  6,000,000 
Lease liabilities  18  84,126  - 
Employee benefits  19  484,921  168,041 
Current tax liability  14  -  145,790 
Total current liabilities    6,852,038  7,348,752 
       
Non-current liabilities       
Vendor payables  17  675,000  3,000,000 
Lease liabilities  18  209,402  - 
Employee benefits  19  40,722  110,561 
Deferred tax liabilities  14  1,457,156  1,682,794 
Total non-current liabilities    2,382,280  4,793,355 
       
Total liabilities    9,234,318  12,142,107 
       
       
Net assets    28,928,533  15,789,320 
       
       
Equity       
       
Issued share capital  20  30,300,043  16,159,312 
Reserves  21  14,424  14,589 
Accumulated losses  22  (1,385,934)  (384,581) 
       
Total equity    28,928,533  15,789,320 
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Issued  Accumulated  Total 
capital Reserves  losses equity 

Consolidated - 2020 Note $ $ $ $ 

Balance as at 13 February 2020 (incorporation of 
Real Estate CRM Pty Ltd) - - - - 
Loss after income tax expense for the year 22 - - (384,581) (384,581) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 
Exchange difference on translation of foreign 
operations - 14,589 - 14,589

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - 14,589 (384,581) (369,992) 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:  
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs 16,159,312 - - 16,159,312 
Share-based payments expense - - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2020 16,159,312 14,589 (384,581) 15,789,320 

Issued  Accumulated Total 
capital Reserves  losses equity 

Consolidated - 2021 Note $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2020 16,159,312 14,589 (384,581) 15,789,320 
Loss after income tax expense for the year 22 - - (1,001,353) (1,001,353) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 
Exchange difference on translation of foreign 
operations - (5,651) - (5,651) 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - (5,651)) (1,001,353)) (1,007,004)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:  
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs 20 14,140,731 - - 14,140,731 
Share-based payments expense - 5,486 - 5,486 

Balance at 30 June 2021 30,300,043 14,424 (1,385,934) 28,928,533 
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    Consolidated 
  Note  2021  2020 
    $  $ 
       
Cash flows from operating activities       
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST)    12,341,315  3,208,100 
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)    (11,070,410)  (1,828,404) 
Government assistance received    138,175  140,348 
Interest received    1,659  34 
Interest paid    (5,665)  - 
Other income    5,235  - 
Income taxes paid    (274,475)  (5,110) 
       
Net cash from operating activities  32  1,135,834  1,514,968 
       
       
Cash flows from investing activities       
Payment for purchase of business, net of cash acquired    (5,761,950)  (4,927,402) 
Payments for financial assets    (150,000)   
Payments for property, plant and equipment    (127,790)  (18,725) 
Payment for intangible assets    (739,799)  - 
Proceeds from release of security deposits (net)    (44,549)  - 
       
Net cash used in investing activities  33  (6,824,088)  (4,946,127) 
       
       
Cash flows from financing activities       
Proceeds from issue of shares    10,600,000  5,975,012 
Share issue transaction costs    (773,337)  (65,700) 
Repayment of lease liabilities    (9,313)  - 
       
Net cash from financing activities  34  9,817,350  5,909,312 
       
       
       
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year    2,474,815  - 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    4,129,096  2,478,153 
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    (22,061)  (3,338) 
       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year    6,581,850  2,474,815 
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1. Significant accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 
July 2020.  
 
New and revised Standards and amendments thereof and Interpretations effective for the current year that are relevant to 
the Group include: 
 
Amending standards Description 
AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Definition of a 
Business 

This Standard amends AASB 3 Business Combinations. The Group has 
adopted the amendments for the first time in the current year. The 
amendments clarify that while businesses usually have outputs, outputs 
are not required for an integrated set of activities and assets to qualify as 
a business. To be considered a business an acquired set of activities and 
assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process 
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.  
 
The amendments remove the assessment of whether market participants 
are capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes and continuing 
to produce outputs. The amendments also introduce additional guidance 
that helps to determine whether a substantive process has been acquired. 
 
The amendments introduce an optional concentration test that permits a 
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets 
is not a business. Under the optional concentration test, the acquired set 
of activities and assets is not a business if substantially all of the fair value 
of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset 
or group of similar assets. The amendments are applied prospectively to 
all business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition 
date is on or after 1 January 2020. 
 

AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Definition of 
Material 

This Standard amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 
and AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors, and makes consequential amendments to several other 
pronouncements and publications. The Group has adopted these 
amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments make 
the definition of material in AASB 101 easier to understand and are not 
intended to alter the underlying concept of materiality in Australian 
Accounting Standards. The concept of 'obscuring' material information 
with immaterial information has been included as part of the new 
definition.  
 
The threshold for materiality influencing users has been changed from 
'could influence' to 'could reasonably be expected to influence'. The 
definition of material in AASB 108 has been replaced by a reference to 
the definition of material in AASB 101. In addition, the Standard also 
amends other Australian Accounting Standards and the Conceptual 
Framework that contain a definition of 'material' or refer to the term 
‘material’ to ensure consistency. 
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1.Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Amending standards Description 
AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – References to the 
Conceptual Framework 

The Group has adopted the amendments included in AASB 2019-1 for 
the first time in the current year. The amendments include consequential 
amendments to affected Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations 
and other pronouncements to reflect the issuance of the Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework) by the 
AASB. 
 
The amendments: 

 Update numerous pronouncements to refer to the new 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting or to clarify which 
version of the Framework is being referenced. These 
amendments apply to for-profit private sector entities that have 
public accountability and are required by legislation to comply 
with Australian Accounting Standards and other for-profit entities 
that voluntarily elect to apply the new Conceptual Framework 

 Permit other entities to continue using the Framework for the 
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements adopted by 
the AASB in 2004 

 
AASB 2019-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Disclosure of the 
Effect of New IFRS Standards Not Yet 
Issued in Australia 

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 1054 Additional Australian 
Disclosures by adding a disclosure requirement for an entity intending to 
comply with IFRS Standards to disclose the information specified in 
paragraphs 30 and 31 of AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors on the potential effect of an IFRS 
Standard that has not yet been issued by the AASB. The Group has 
adopted these amendments for the first time in the current year. 

 
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised Australian 
Accounting Standards, Interpretations and amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective: 
 

Standard/amendment 
Effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture, 
AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of 
Amendments to AASB 10 and AASB 128 and AASB 2017-5 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 and 
AASB 128 and Editorial Corrections 
 

1 January 2022 (Editorial 
corrections in AASB 2017-5 
applied from 1 January 2018) 

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current and AASB 2020-6 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – 
Deferral of Effective Date 
 

1 January 2022 

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual 
Improvements 2018-2020 and Other Amendments 
 

1 January 2022 

 
The amendments apply to annual reporting periods beginning after 1 July 2021. The directors of the Company do not 
anticipate that the amendments will have a material impact on the Group. 
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1.Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Basis of preparation 
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) and comply with other requirements of the law. Compliance with Australian Accounting 
Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (‘IFRS’) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Consequently, this financial report 
has been prepared in accordance with and complies with IFRS as issued by the IASB. 
 
The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Group. For the purposes of preparing the 
consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit entity. 
 
Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the 
revaluation of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, investment properties, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and derivative financial 
instruments. 
  
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Consolidated entity's accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 
  
Parent entity information 
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the Consolidated entity only. 
Supplementary information about the Parent entity is disclosed in note 29. 
  
Principles of consolidation 
The Consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of PropTech Group Limited 
('Company', 'Parent entity' or ‘PropTech Group’) as at 30 June 2021 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then 
ended. PropTech Group Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the 
('Consolidated entity' or ‘Group’). 
  
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Consolidated entity has control. The Consolidated entity controls an entity 
when the Consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the Consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control 
ceases. 
  
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Consolidated entity are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Consolidated entity. 
  
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership interest, 
without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration 
transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable 
to the Parent entity. 
  
Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Consolidated entity. 
Losses incurred by the Consolidated entity are attributed to the non-controlling interest in full, even if that results in a deficit 
balance. 
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1.Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Principles of consolidation (continued) 
Where the Consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and 
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The 
Consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained 
together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 
  
Operating segments 
Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented is on the same basis 
as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM'). The CODM is responsible for the allocation 
of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance. 
  
Foreign currency translation 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is PropTech Group Limited's functional and presentation 
currency. 
  
Foreign currency transactions 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
profit or loss. 
  
Foreign operations 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates at the reporting 
date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the average exchange 
rates, which approximate the rates at the dates of the transactions, for the period. All resulting foreign exchange differences 
are recognised in other comprehensive income through the foreign currency reserve in equity. 
  
The foreign currency reserve is recognised in profit or loss when a foreign operation or net investment has been disposed. 
  
Revenue recognition 
The Consolidated entity recognises revenue as follows: 
  
Revenue from contracts with customers 
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Consolidated entity is expected to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the Consolidated entity: 
identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; determines the transaction price 
which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction price to 
the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to 
be delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the 
transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised. 
  
Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer such as discounts, 
rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other contingent events. Such estimates 
are determined using either the 'expected value' or 'most likely amount' method. The measurement of variable consideration 
is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue will only be recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a 
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The measurement constraint continues 
until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts received that are subject 
to the constraining principle are recognised as a refund liability. 
 
The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources: 

 Subscription revenues, which are comprised of subscription fees from customers accessing the Company’s 
Customer Resource Management (‘CRM’) and Property Management (‘PM’) cloud-based software, software 
licenses, and customers paying for additional support that is included in the contract as a variable component; and 

 Related professional services such as implementation services, and further development services 
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1.Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Revenue recognition (continued) 
Subscription and support revenues 
Subscription revenue comprises of recurring monthly fees from subscribers to the Group’s products. Subscribers are 
invoiced monthly. Support products offered as part of the subscription remain unbilled at balance date and are recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Position as Contract assets. Unearned revenue at balance date is recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position as Contract liabilities and included in our current liabilities. 
 
Subscription revenue is recognised as performance obligations under contracts with customers. Performance obligations for 
subscriptions to cloud based software consist of the provisioning of the software and related support services over the term 
of the contract. Where the performance obligations of support services are usage based (such as Mobile services), revenue 
is recognised consistent with the usage profile. 
 
Related professional services  
The Group provides a service of installation and bespoke development of various software products for specialised 
business operations. Such services are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time. Revenue is recognised 
for these services based on the entity’s efforts or inputs relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of the 
services of the various software products. The directors have assessed this as an appropriate measure of progress 
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation under AASB 15 Revenue from Contract with Customers.  
 
Payment for such services is not due from the customer until specific milestones are complete and therefore a contract 
asset or contract liability is recognised over the period in which the installation services are performed representing the 
entity’s right to consideration for the services performed to date or the entity’s obligation to perform such service. 
 
Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
  
Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
  
Government grants 
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match them 
with the costs that they are intended to compensate. 
  
Income tax 
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 
●  When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a

transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor 
taxable profits; or 

●  When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and the 
timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. 

  
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
  
The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the 
carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset. 
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1.Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Income tax (continued) 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on 
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously. 
  
The Group has accumulated tax losses at 30 June 2021 amounting to $14,054,905 (2020: $2,366,627) that can be used to 
offset future taxable gains. The Group are investigating whether any of the accumulated tax losses will be carried forward if 
the Company chooses to become a tax Consolidated Group for tax purposes. At 30 June 2021 no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised in respect of tax losses. 
  
Current and non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 
  
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the 
Consolidated entity's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 
12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used 
to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 
  
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the Consolidated entity's normal operating cycle; 
it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities 
are classified as non-current. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 
  
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash 
and cash equivalents also includes bank overdrafts, which are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement 
of financial position. 
  
Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 
days. 
  
The Consolidated entity has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days 
overdue. 
  
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses. 
  
Contract assets 
Contract assets are recognised when the Consolidated entity has transferred goods or services to the customer but where 
the Consolidated entity is yet to establish an unconditional right to consideration. Contract assets are treated as financial 
assets for impairment purposes. 
  
Investments and other financial assets 
Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are included as part of the initial 
measurement, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Such assets are subsequently measured at 
either amortised cost or fair value depending on their classification. Classification is determined based on both the business 
model within which such assets are held and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset unless an 
accounting mismatch is being avoided. 
  
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been transferred and the 
Consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. When there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering part or all of a financial asset, it's carrying value is written off. 
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1.Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Investments and other financial assets (continued) 
Amortised cost 
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus 
the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between 
that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset 
is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.  
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Consolidated entity recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets which are either measured 
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The measurement of the loss allowance depends upon 
the Consolidated entity's assessment at the end of each reporting period as to whether the financial instrument's credit risk 
has increased significantly since initial recognition, based on reasonable and supportable information that is available, without 
undue cost or effort to obtain. 
  
Where there has not been a significant increase in exposure to credit risk since initial recognition, a 12-month expected credit 
loss allowance is estimated. This represents a portion of the asset's lifetime expected credit losses that is attributable to a 
default event that is possible within the next 12 months. Where a financial asset has become credit impaired or where it is 
determined that credit risk has increased significantly, the loss allowance is based on the asset's lifetime expected credit 
losses. The amount of expected credit loss recognised is measured on the basis of the probability weighted present value of 
anticipated cash shortfalls over the life of the instrument discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
  
For financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the loss allowance is 
recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding expense through profit or loss. In all other cases, the loss 
allowance reduces the asset's carrying value with a corresponding expense through profit or loss. 
  
Plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
  
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of plant and equipment over their 
expected useful lives as follows: 
  
Leasehold improvements  Lease term 
Plant and equipment  3-5 years 
  
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
  
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life of the assets, 
whichever is shorter. 
  
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
Consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. 
Any revaluation surplus reserve relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained profits. 
  
Right-of-use assets 
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in the 
cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and 
restoring the site or asset. 
  
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 
life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Consolidated entity expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at 
the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
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1.Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Right-of-use assets (continued) 
The Consolidated entity has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term 
leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to 
profit or loss as incurred. 
  
Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair value at 
the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite life intangible 
assets are not amortised and are subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. Finite life intangible assets are 
subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses recognised in profit or loss arising 
from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the intangible asset. The method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes in 
the expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation method or 
period. 
  
Goodwill 
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a business. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested annually for impairment, 
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not subsequently reversed. 
  
Patents and trademarks 
Significant costs associated with patents and trademarks are deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period 
of their expected benefit, being their finite life of 8-10 years. 
  
Customer contracts 
Customer contracts acquired in a business combination are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their 
expected benefit, being their finite life of 8 years. 
  
Software 
Significant costs associated with software are deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their expected 
benefit, being their finite life of 3-5 years. 
  
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-
financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 
  
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to 
form a cash-generating unit. 
  
Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Consolidated entity prior to the end of the financial 
year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
  
Contract liabilities 
Contract liabilities represent the Consolidated entity's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer and are 
recognised when a customer pays consideration, or when the Consolidated entity recognises a receivable to reflect its 
unconditional right to consideration (whichever is earlier) before the Consolidated entity has transferred the goods or services 
to the customer. 
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1.Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Lease liabilities 
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at the present 
value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, 
if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Consolidated entity's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of 
fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts 
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is 
reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on 
an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
  
Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are remeasured 
if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; residual 
guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an 
adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset 
is fully written down. 
  
Finance costs 
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in 
the period in which they are incurred. 
  
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable the Consolidated entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 
If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The 
increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
  
Employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefits 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the 
reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
  
Other long-term employee benefits 
The liability for annual leave and long service leave are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting 
date and therefore are deemed to be ‘Other long-term employee benefits’.  Other long-term employee benefits are measured 
at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting 
date on corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows. 
  
Defined contribution superannuation expense 
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
  
Share-based payments 
Equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees. 
  
Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange for the 
rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of services, where the amount of cash 
is determined by reference to the share price. 
  
The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined using 
the Binomial option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the 
share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free 
interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine whether the Consolidated 
entity receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of any other vesting 
conditions. 
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1.Significant accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued) 
Share-based payments (continued) 
The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting 
period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the best estimate 
of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit 
or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous 
periods. 

The cost of cash-settled transactions is initially, and at each reporting date until vested, determined by applying the Binomial 
option pricing model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions on which the award was granted. The cumulative 
charge to profit or loss until settlement of the liability is calculated as follows: 
● during the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date multiplied by the

expired portion of the vesting period.
● from the end of the vesting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair value of the liability at the 

reporting date.

All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss. The ultimate cost of cash-settled transactions is the cash paid to 
settle the liability. 

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market conditions 
are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other conditions are 
satisfied. 

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. An 
additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair value 
of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification. 

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Consolidated entity or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is 
treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Consolidated entity or employee and is not satisfied 
during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the 
award is forfeited. 

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense 
is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new award 
is treated as if they were a modification. 

Fair value measurement 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 
value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal 
market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and 
best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 
inputs. 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each reporting date and transfers 
between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is either not 
available or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are selected based on market knowledge and 
reputation. Where there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to another, an analysis is 
undertaken, which includes a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a comparison, where 
applicable, with external sources of data. 
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1.Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Issued capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
  
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
  
Business combinations 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity instruments 
or other assets are acquired. 
  
The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, equity instruments 
issued or liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree. For each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured at either fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All acquisition costs are expensed as incurred to profit 
or loss. 
  
On the acquisition of a business, the Consolidated entity assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the Consolidated 
entity's operating or accounting policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at the acquisition-date. 
  
Where the business combination is achieved in stages, the Consolidated entity remeasures its previously held equity interest 
in the acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value and the difference between the fair value and the previous carrying amount 
is recognised in profit or loss. 
  
Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent 
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. 
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
  
The difference between the acquisition-date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any pre-existing investment in the 
acquiree is recognised as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and the pre-existing fair value is less than the fair value 
of the identifiable net assets acquired, being a bargain purchase to the acquirer, the difference is recognised as a gain directly 
in profit or loss by the acquirer on the acquisition-date, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement 
of the net assets acquired, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any, the consideration transferred and the acquirer's 
previously held equity interest in the acquirer. 
  
Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The acquirer retrospectively adjusts the provisional 
amounts recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities during the measurement period, based on new 
information obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition-date. The measurement period ends 
on either the earlier of (i) 12 months from the date of the acquisition or (ii) when the acquirer receives all the information 
possible to determine fair value. 
  
Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of PropTech Group Limited, excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 
  
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the 
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted 
average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
  
Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense. 
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1.Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes (continued) 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
  
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 
  
Rounding of amounts 
The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to 'rounding-off'. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Corporations Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar. 
 
2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates 
and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, 
management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will 
seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next 
financial year are discussed below. 
 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or may have, 
on the Consolidated entity based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products and services 
offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the Consolidated entity operates. Other than as 
addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial statements 
or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the Consolidated entity unfavourably 
as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 
 
Share-based payment transactions 
The Consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using the Binomial model taking 
into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions 
relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers involving sale of goods 
When recognising revenue in relation to the sale of goods to customers, the key performance obligation of the 
Consolidated entity is considered to be the point of delivery of the goods to the customer, as this is deemed to be the time 
that the customer obtains control of the promised goods and therefore the benefits of unimpeded access 
 
Determination of variable consideration 
Judgement is exercised in estimating variable consideration which is determined having regard to past experience with 
respect to the goods returned to the Consolidated entity where the customer maintains a right of return pursuant to the 
customer contract or where goods or services have a variable component. Revenue will only be recognised to the extent 
that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised under the contract will 
not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 
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2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 
Allowance for expected credit losses 
The allowance for expected credit losses assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. It is based on the 
lifetime expected credit loss, grouped based on days overdue, and makes assumptions to allocate an overall expected credit 
loss rate for each group. These assumptions include recent sales experience, historical collection rates, the impact of the 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and forward-looking information that is available. The allowance for expected credit 
losses, as disclosed in note 9, is calculated based on the information available at the time of preparation. The actual credit 
losses in future years may be higher or lower. 
 
Fair value measurement hierarchy 
The Consolidated entity is required to classify all assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, using a three level hierarchy, 
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: Level 1: Quoted prices 
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date; Level 2: 
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; 
and Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant 
to fair value and therefore which category the asset or liability is placed in can be subjective. 
 
The fair value of assets and liabilities classified as level 3 is determined by the use of valuation models. These include 
discounted cash flow analysis or the use of observable inputs that require significant adjustments based on unobservable 
inputs. Refer to note 24 for further information. 
 
Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The Consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of 
technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are 
less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will 
be written off or written down. 
 
Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The Consolidated entity tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment, 
whether goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting 
policy stated in note 1. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use 
calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions, including estimated discount rates based on the current 
cost of capital and growth rates of the estimated future cash flows. Refer to note 13 for further information. 
  
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The Consolidated entity assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible 
assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Consolidated entity and to the particular asset that may 
lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This involves fair value 
less costs of disposal or value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions. 
 
Income tax 
The Consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is required 
in determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary 
course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Consolidated entity recognises liabilities for 
anticipated tax audit issues based on the Consolidated entity's current understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the carrying amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 
Recovery of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the Consolidated entity considers it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
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2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 
Lease term 
The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. Judgement 
is exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or purchase the underlying 
asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when ascertaining the periods to be included 
in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances that create an economical incentive to exercise 
an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are considered at the lease commencement date. Factors 
considered may include the importance of the asset to the Consolidated entity's operations; comparison of terms and 
conditions to prevailing market rates; incurrence of significant penalties; existence of significant leasehold improvements; 
and the costs and disruption to replace the asset. The Consolidated entity reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to 
exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option, if there is a significant event or significant change in 
circumstances. 
  
Incremental borrowing rate 
Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated to discount 
future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease commencement date. Such a rate is 
based on what the Consolidated entity estimates it would have to pay a third party to borrow the funds necessary to obtain 
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar terms, security and economic environment. 
  
Employee benefits provision 
As discussed in note 1, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting 
date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all 
employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases 
through promotion and inflation have been taken into account. 
  
Business combinations 
As discussed in note 1, business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The fair value of assets 
acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are initially estimated by the Consolidated entity taking into 
consideration all available information at the reporting date. Fair value adjustments on the finalisation of the business 
combination accounting is retrospective, where applicable, to the period the combination occurred and may have an impact 
on the assets and liabilities, depreciation and amortisation reported. 
  
3. Reverse acquisition 
On 19 November 2020,  PropTech Group Limited completed the acquisition of 100% of the ordinary shares in Real Estate 
CRM Pty Ltd (‘RECRM’) and its wholly owned subsidiaries (‘Acquisition’). PropTech Group issued 64,900,048 shares to 
the former shareholders of RECRM which resulted in RECRM’s former shareholders holding a majority share interest in. 
PropTech Group. 
 
The Acquisition has been accounted for using the principles for reverse acquisitions in AASB 3 Business Combinations, as 
a result of the Acquisition, the former shareholders of RECRM (the legal subsidiary entity) obtained accounting control of the 
Company (the legal Parent entity). 
 
Accordingly, this consolidated financial report of PropTech Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021 represents a 
continuation of the financial statements of RECRM (on the basis that RECRM is the deemed accounting acquirer), together 
with the results of PropTech Group Limited from the Acquisition date of 19 November 2020.  
 
It should be noted that the results of the previous corresponding period for the year ended 30 June 2020 (‘PCP’) are only 
for a portion of the year as it was incorporated on the 13 February 2020, any comparatives in these financial statements 
are only the financial results of RECRM when run as a private group. For clarity, the PCP where applicable does not 
include any results from PropTech Group Limited. 
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3. Reverse acquisition (continued) 

 
 

Consolidated statement of: For the year ended 30 June 2021 Previous corresponding period (‘PCP’) 

Profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 

RECRM: 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021.  
PropTech Group: 19 November 2020 to 30 June 2021. 

RECRM only for the period from 13 February 
2020 to 30 June 2020. 

Financial position 
RECRM and PropTech Group consolidated as at 30 June 
2021. 

RECRM only as at 30 June 2020. 

Changes in equity 

Equity balances of RECRM as at 1 July 2020, their results for 
the year and transactions with equity holders for the year.  
 
PropTech Group transactions with equity holders since 19 
November 2020 and its results for the period from 19 
November 2020 to 30 June 2021. 

RECRM only for the period from 13 February 
2020 to 30 June 2020. 

Cash flows 
RECRM: 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021.  
 
PropTech Group: 19 November 2020 to 30 June 2021. 

RECRM only for the period from 13 February 
2020 to 30 June 2020. 

The deemed consideration transferred by RECRM under the principles of AASB 3 is $2,915,077.  
 
The fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired in PropTech Group on reverse acquisition are as follows: 
 
Assets $ 
Cash and cash equivalents 319,423 
Trade and other receivables 6,654 
Accrued income 314,375 
Prepayments 97,294 
Plant, and equipment 2,664 
Intangible assets – Software 204,284 
Trade and other payables (2,096,601) 
Employee benefit liabilities (74,977) 
Goodwill 4,141,961 
Net assets acquired 2,915,077 

 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Consolidated entity are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the Consolidated entity.  
 
 

4. Operating segments 
 
Identification of reportable operating segments 
The Consolidated entity is organised into two operating segments based on differences in services provided: business to 
business, and business to consumer. These operating segments are based on the internal reports that are reviewed and 
used by the Board of Directors (who are identified as the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM')) in assessing 
performance and in determining the allocation of resources. There is no aggregation of operating segments. 
  
Other segments represent the corporate costs of the Consolidated entity. 
  
The CODM reviews EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation). The accounting policies adopted 
for internal reporting to the CODM are consistent with those adopted in the financial statements. 
  
The information reported to the CODM is on a monthly basis. 
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4. Operating segments (continued) 
 
Types of products and services 
The principal products and services of each of these operating segments are as follows: 
 
Business to business (‘B2B’)  Customer Relationship Management platforms for Residential and Commercial Property 

sales and property management along with additional products and services such as 
website development & marketing tools and support Software as a Service 
 

Business to consumer (‘B2C’)  Property investor Software as a Service 
  
Intersegment transactions 
Intersegment transactions were made at market rates. Intersegment transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 
  
Major customers 
The Directors assessed there were no major customers. 
 
Operating segment information 
  

 
 

 
 

B2B 
   Other 

segments 
 

Total        B2C 
Consolidated - 2021    $  $  $  $ 
           
Operating revenue    10,170,710  1,003,063  -  11,173,773 
Other income    454,653  800  1,152  456,605 
Cost of Sales    (797,039)  (389,840)  -  (1,186,879) 
Operating expenses    (6,217,014)  (663,557)  (2,019,837)  (8,900,408) 
Other expenses    -  -  (159,718)  (159,718) 
Intercompany charges    (1,504,100)  249,671  1,254,429  - 
EBITDA    2,107,210  200,137  (923,974)  1,383,373 
 
        Other   
     B2B  B2C  segments  Total 
Consolidated – 2020    $  $  $  $ 
           
Operating revenue    2,860,676  -  -  2,860,676 
Other income    140,582  -  -  140,582 
Cost of Sales    (309,291)  -  -  (309,291) 
Operating expenses    (1,839,974)  -  -  (1,839,974) 
Other expenses    (331,329)  -  -  (331,329) 
Intercompany charges    -  -  -  - 
EBITDA    520,664  -  -  520,664 
 
Reconciliation from segment reporting to net profit/(loss) before tax 
  
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
EBITDA  1,383,373  520,664 
Depreciation and amortisation  (2,218,374)  (824,799) 
Finance costs (net)  (5,665)  (4,496) 
Loss before income tax expense  (840,666)  (308,631) 
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4. Operating segments (continued)

Depreciation and amortisation by segment 

Consolidated 
2021 2020 

$ $ 
Business to business 2,171,194 824,799 
Business to consumer 46,415 - 
Other segments 765 - 

2,218,374 824,799 

Geographical information 

Sales to external customers 
Geographical non-current 

assets 
2021  2020 2021 2020 

$  $ $ $ 

Australia 10,038,951 2,496,117 29,824,747 24,545,491 
Rest of world 1,134,822 364,559 10,261 2,085 

11,173,773 2,860,676 29,835,008 24,547,576 

The geographical non-current assets above are exclusive of, where applicable, financial instruments, deferred tax assets, 
post-employment benefits assets and rights under insurance contracts. 

5. Revenue
Consolidated 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

Revenue from contracts with customers 
Software as a Service (SaaS) revenues 9,967,489 2,649,034 
Mobile services 638,513 183,267 
Set-up and training fees 330,123 28,052 
Consultancy and other revenues 237,648 323 

11,173,773 2,860,676 
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5. Revenue (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue 
The disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is as follows: 

Other 
B2B B2C segments Total 

Consolidated - 2021 $ $ $ $ 

Major service lines 
Software as a Service (SaaS) revenues 8,984,564 982,925 - 9,967,489 
Mobile services 638,513 - - 638,513 
Set-up and training fees 330,123 - - 330,123 
Consultancy and other revenues 217,510 20,138 - 237,648 

10,170,710 1,003,063 - 11,173,773 

Geographical regions 
Australia 9,101,385 937,566 - 10,038,951 
Rest of world 1,069,325 65,497 - 1,134,822 

10,170,710 1,003,063 - 11,173,773 

Timing of revenue recognition 
Services at a point in time 547,633 20,138 - 567,771 
Services transferred over time 9,623,077 982,925 - 10,606,002 

10,170,710 1,003,063 - 11,173,773 

Other 
B2B B2C segments Total 

Consolidated - 2020 $ $ $ $ 

Major service lines 
Software as a Service (SaaS) revenues 2,649,034 - - 2,649,034 
Mobile services 183,267 - - 183,267 
Set-up and training fees 28,052 - - 28,052 
Consultancy and other revenues 323 - - 323 

2,860,676 - - 2,860,676 

Geographical regions 
Australia 2,496,117 - - 2,496,117 
Rest of world 364,559 - - 364,559 

2,860,676 - - 2,860,676 

Timing of revenue recognition 
Services transferred at a point in time 28,375 - - 28,375 
Services transferred over time 2,832,301 - - 2,832,301 

2,860,676 - - 2,860,676 
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6. Other income
Consolidated 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

Income from government assistance 253,344 140,348 
R&D incentive income 201,602 - 
Interest income 1,659 34 
Other income - 200

Other income 456,605 140,582 

7. Expenses
Consolidated 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses: 

Operating costs: 
 Cost of sales 1,186,879 309,291 
 Data and production costs 1,149,450 464,676 
 Advertising and marketing expenses 193,690 15,190 
 General and administration 713,027 61,491 
 IT and legal expenses 250,962 2,760 
 Low value or short-term rent 93,277 21,733 
 Bad debts and allowances for expected credit losses (6,119) 6,476 

Total operating costs 3,581,166 881,617 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses: 
Depreciation – Plant and equipment 10,907 4,819 
Depreciation– Right of Use assets 14,976 - 
Amortisation – Software and web platform 1,315,942 596,307 
Amortisation – Patents and trademarks 1,382 4,673 
Amortisation – Customer contracts 875,167 219,000 

Total depreciation and amortisation 2,218,374 824,799 

Other expenses: 
Acquisitions costs 97,577 335,826 
Other 115,743 5,425 
Foreign exchange losses (net) 16,410 3,338 

Total other expenses 229,730 344,589 

Net finance costs: 
Interest from bank accounts 4,937 (26) 
Interest on bank overdrafts - 4,522
Interest on lease liabilities 728 - 

Total finance costs 5,665 4,496 
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9. Trade and other receivables

Consolidated 
2021 2020 

$ $ 

Current 
Trade receivables 735,099 167,042 
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (207,839) (3,399) 

527,260 163,643 

Other receivables - 5,247

527,260 168,890 

Allowance for expected credit losses 
The Consolidated entity has recognised a gain of $6,119 in profit or loss (2020: loss $6,476) in respect of the expected credit 
losses for the year ended 30 June 2021. 

The ageing of the receivables and allowance for expected credit losses provided for above are as follows: 

Expected credit loss rate Carrying amount 
Allowance for expected 

credit losses 
2021  2020 2021 2020 2021  2020 

Consolidated %  % $ $ $  $ 

Not overdue 7.72% 0.15% 291,814 96,992 (22,538) (144) 
0 to 1 months overdue 3.84% 0.29% 55,020 33,809 (2,111) (98) 
1 to 2 months overdue 0.69% 1.08% 28,206 22,012 (193) (238)
2 to 3 months overdue 2.64% 4.33% 15,795 6,147 (417) (266)
3 to 4 months overdue 1.49% 12.87% 80,091 2,137 (1,191) (275) 
Over 5 months overdue 68.66% 40.00% 264,173 5,945 (181,389) (2,378) 

735,099 167,042 (207,839) (3,399) 

The Consolidated entity has increased its monitoring of debt recovery as there is an increased probability of customers 
delaying payment or being unable to pay, due to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. As a result, the Consolidated entity 
has revised its calculation of expected credit losses and has adjusted accordingly as at 30 June 2021. 

8. Cash and cash equivalents
Consolidated 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

Cash at bank 6,581,850 2,474,815 

6,581,850 2,474,815 

Reconciliation to cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 
The above figures are reconciled to cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year as shown in the statement of cash flows as follows: 

Balances as above 6,581,850 2,474,815 

Balance as per statement of cash flows 6,581,850 2,474,815 
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9. Trade and other receivables (continued)

Allowance for expected credit losses (continued) 
Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses are as follows: 

Consolidated 
2021 2020 

$ $ 

Opening balance 3,399 - 
Additional provisions recognised 14,873 6,476 
Additions through business combinations 211,059 17,158 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (239) (20,235)
Unused amounts reversed (21,253) - 

Closing balance 207,839 3,399 

10. Contract assets
Consolidated 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

Current contract assets 256,626 159,872 

Reconciliation 
Reconciliation of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and 
previous financial year are set out below: 

Opening balance 159,872 - 
Additions 256,626 159,872 
Transfer to trade receivables (159,872) - 

Closing balance 256,626 159,872 

11. Prepayments and other assets
Consolidated 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

Current 
Prepayments 256,045 22,518 
Security deposits 44,549 - 

300,594 22,518 
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12. Plant and equipment
Consolidated 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

Plant and equipment 74,123 22,833 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (18,209) (4,819) 

55,914 18,014 

Leasehold improvements 81,120 - 
Less: Accumulated depreciation - - 

81,120 - 

Building right of use 302,841 - 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (14,976) - 

287,865 - 

424,899 18,014 

Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 

Building Plant and Leasehold 
Consolidated right of use2 equipment  improvements  Total 

Balance at 13 February 2020 - - - - 
Additions - 18,725 - 18,725
Additions through business combinations (note 
25) - 4,108 - 4,108
Disposals - - 
Depreciation expense - (4,819) - (4,819)

- 
Balance at 30 June 2020 - 18,014 - 18,014 
Additions 302,841 46,143 81,120 430,104 
Additions through business combinations (note 
25) - 2,664 - 2,664 
Disposals - -1 - - 
Depreciation expense (14,976) (10,907) - (25,883) 

Balance at 30 June 2021 287,865 55,914 81,120 424,899 

1.During the financial year 2021 the entity disposed of office equipment at cost of $32,179 (2020: nil). At the time of disposal
the total net book value of assets were Nil.

2.For impairment testing, the right-of-use assets have been allocated to the Business to business (B2B) cash-generating unit.
Refer to note 13 for further information on the impairment testing key assumptions and sensitivity analysis.F
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13. Intangible assets 
  
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Goodwill  21,070,565  15,542,139 
Less: Impairment  - - 
  21,070,565  15,542,139 
     
Software and web platform  4,774,100  3,229,487 
Less: Accumulated amortisation  (1,912,249) (596,307) 
  2,861,851  2,633,180 
     
Patents and trademarks  12,916  12,916 
Less: Accumulated amortisation  (6,055) (4,673) 
  6,861  8,243 
     
Customer contracts  6,565,000  6,565,000 
Less: Accumulated amortisation  (1,094,167) (219,000) 
  5,470,833  6,346,000 
     
  29,410,110  24,529,562 
  
Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 
  
      Software   Patents     

Consolidated 
 

Goodwill 
 and web  

platform 
 and 

trademarks 
 Customer 

contracts 
 

Total 
           
           
Balance at 13 February 2020  -  -  -  -  - 
Additions  -  -  -  -  - 
Additions through business combinations  
(note 25) 

 
15,542,139 

 
3,229,487 

 
12,916 

 
6,565,000 

 
25,349,542 

Revaluation of assets  -  - -  - - 
Amortisation expense  -  (596,307) (4,673)  (219,000) (819,979) 
           
Balance at 30 June 2020  15,542,139  2,633,180  8,243  6,346,000  24,529,562 
Additions  -  1,340,330  -  -  1,340,330 
Additions through business combinations (note 
25) 

 
1,386,465 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,386,465 

Additions through reverse acquisition 
transaction (note 3) 

 
4,141,961 

 
204,284 

 
- 

 
- 

 
4,346,245 

Amortisation expense  -  (1,315,942) (1,382) (875,167) (2,192,492) 
           
Balance at 30 June 2021  21,070,565  2,861,851  6,861  5,470,833  29,410,110 
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13. Intangible assets (continued) 
 
Impairment testing 
The Group has identified that there are two (2) cash-generating units which are aligned with the operating segments 
disclosed in Note 4 and against which goodwill and other intangible assets are allocated and tested.  
 
Goodwill acquired through business combinations have been allocated to the following cash-generating units: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Business to business (B2B)  16,928,604  15,542,139 
Business to consumer (B2C)  4,141,961  - 
     
  21,070,565  15,542,139 
  
As per the reverse acquisition of Real Estate technology company Real Estate CRM Pty Ltd (‘RECRM’) the Consolidated 
entity acquired the Business to consumers segment on 19 November 2020 (refer to reverse acquisition, note 3). 
 
The recoverable amount of the Group’s goodwill has been determined by a value-in-use (VIU) methodology, using past 
experience of sales, growth and margin to determine the expectations for the future. The VIU calculation uses a discounted 
cash flow model, based on a 1 year projection period approved by management and extrapolated for a further 4 years 
using a steady rate.  
 
Key assumptions 
Key assumptions are those to which the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units is most sensitive. 
 
The following key assumptions were used in the discounted cash flow model for the CGUs 
 

Key Assumption B2B B2C 
Projected revenue growth rate per annum  15%  (2020: 10%) 15% (2020: N/A) 
Projected operating costs and overheads increase  15% (2020: 10%) 15% (2020: N/A) 
Pre-tax discount rate 21.5% (2020: 21.9%) 21.35% (2020: N/A)  
Long-term growth rate 2.5 % (2020: 2.5%) 2.5 % (2020: NA) 

 
The discount rates reflect management’s estimate of the time value of money and the Group’s weighted average cost of 
capital adjusted for the computer retailing division, the risk-free rate and the volatility of the share price relative to market 
movements. 
 
Based on this calculation, there was no impairment charge recorded against goodwill, software, or other intangible assets 
during for the respective CGU’s in financial year 2021 (2020: nil). 
 
Management believes the projected revenue growth rates are prudent and justified, based on historical performance of the 
businesses.  
 
Results 
Based on the above,  

 the recoverable amount of B2B CGU exceeded the carrying amount by $8.0 million 
 the recoverable amount of B2C CGU exceeded the carrying amount by $0.6 million.  

 
Sensitivity 
As disclosed in note 2, the directors have made judgements and estimates in respect of impairment testing of goodwill. 
Should these judgements and estimates not occur the resulting goodwill carrying amount may decrease. The sensitivities 
are as follows: 
 

 Revenue growth would need to decrease by more than 4% for the B2B CGU before goodwill would need to be 
impaired, with all other assumptions remaining constant. 
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13. Intangible assets (continued)

Sensitivity (continued) 
 The pre-tax discount rate would be required to increase by 6% for B2B before goodwill would need to be impaired,

with all other assumptions remaining constant.

 Revenue growth would need to decrease by more than 3% for the B2C CGU before goodwill would need to be
impaired, with all other assumptions remaining constant.

 The pre-tax discount rate would be required to increase by 5% for B2B before goodwill would need to be impaired,
with all other assumptions remaining constant.

Management believes that other reasonable changes in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount of both the 
CGUs’ goodwill is based would not cause the CGUs’ carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount. 

14. Current and deferred income tax

Income tax expense 
Consolidated 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

Income tax expense 
Current tax 84,647 151,109 
Adjustments in respect of prior years1 117,874 
Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences (41,834) (75,159) 

Aggregate income tax expense 160,687 75,950 

Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises: 
(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets 183,804 (38,902) 
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (225,638) (36,257) 

Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences (41,834) (75,159) 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate 
Loss before income tax expense (840,666) (308,631) 

Income tax expense at the statutory tax rate of 26% (2020: 27.5%) (218,573) (84,873) 

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income: 
Tax losses not recognised 287,947 175,772 
Reduction in tax rates on deferred tax assets, net 70,141 - 
Non-deductible expenses 67,187 22,993 
Non-assessable income (163,889) (37,942) 
Adjustments in respect of prior years1 117,874 - 

Income tax expense 160,687 75,950 

1Relates to income tax expense relating to one of the subsidiaries, pertaining to add-back of expenses relating to R&D 
incentive in FY 2020. The related R&D incentive income has been accounted for as “Other income”.  
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14. Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in the statement of financial position for the following items: 

Consolidated 
2021 2020 

$ $ 

Unused tax losses1 14,054,905 2,366,627 
Deductible temporary differences 1,954,040 176,098 
Total 16,008,945 2,542,725 

Potential benefit at 26% (2020: 27.5%) 4,162,326 699,249 

 1The above balances includes the tax losses pertaining to 
 PropTech Group Limited and its controlled entities as at 30 June 2021; and
 Real Estate CRM Pty Ltd and its controlled entities as at 30 June 20201

The deferred tax asset has not been brought to account on the basis that at this stage it is not probable that sufficient 
taxable income will be generated to utilize the losses or to offset the temporary differences.  

The deferred tax asset relating to carry forward losses and temporary differences will only be recognized if: 
a) future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised;
b) the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with; and
c) the Consolidated entity is able to meet the continuity of business and or continuity of ownership tests.

Current tax asset/(liability) 
Consolidated 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

Income tax receivable / (Income tax payable) 137,560 (145,790) 

Deferred tax assets 
Consolidated 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

Deferred tax assets 373,952 557,756 

Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences attributable to: 
Amounts recognised in profit or loss: 

Allowance for expected credit losses 1,635 736 
Intangible assets - software 330,476 504,894 
Employee benefits 35,643 44,126 
Payables, accruals, and contract liabilities 6,198 8,000 

373,952 557,756 

Movements: 
Opening balance 557,756 - 
Credited / (debited) to profit or loss - 38,902
Adjustment - 5,755
Credited / (debited) to profit or loss (183,804) 513,099 

Closing balance 373,952 557,756 
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14. Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities 

Consolidated 
2021 2020 

$ $ 

Deferred tax liability 1,457,156 1,682,794 

Deferred tax liability comprises temporary differences attributable to: 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss: 
Cash and cash equivalents - (12,152)
Contract assets and accrued income 34,739 45,046 
Intangible assets – customer contracts 1,422,417 1,649,900 

1,457,156 1,682,794 

Movements: 
Opening balance 1,682,794 - 
Acquired as part of business combination (note 25) - 1,719,051
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss (225,638) (36,257) 

Closing balance 1,457,156 1,682,794 

15. Trade and other payables
Consolidated 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

Trade payables 696,920 605,347 
GST payables 299,951 218,006 
Accruals and other payables 1,659,188 211,568 

2,656,059 1,034,921 

Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments. 

16. Contract liabilities

Consolidated 
2021 2020 

$ $ 

Contract liabilities 251,932 - 

Reconciliation 
Reconciliation of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and 
previous financial year are set out below: 

Opening balance - - 
Payments received in advance 251,932 - 

Closing balance 251,932 -
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16. Contract liabilities (continued) 
 
Unsatisfied performance obligations 
The aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied at the end of the 
reporting period was $251,932 as at 30 June 2021 (2020: nil) and is expected to be recognised as revenue in future periods 
as follows: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Within 6 months  251,932  - 
6 to 12 months  -  - 
12 to 18 months  -  - 
18 to 24 months  -  - 
     
  251,932  - 
  
17. Vendor payables 
  
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
Current     
Deferred consideration payable1  -  2,000,000 
Contingent consideration payable2  3,375,000  4,000,000 
     
  3,375,000  6,000,000 
Non-current     
Contingent consideration payable2  675,000  3,000,000 
     
  675,000  3,000,000 
 

1Paid $2 million in deferred consideration to the vendors of Commerce Australia Pty Ltd in full during March 2021 as part of 
the consideration of the Commerce Australia Pty Ltd acquisition. 
 
2Paid/Payable to the following vendors based on specific conditions:  
 
Commerce Australia Pty Ltd 
Contingent consideration (1) 
 

Paid the full contingent consideration of $4 million cash in May 2021 for the ongoing 
retention of an agreed customer base between the date of completion and the 
contingent payment date. The total amount payable is determined by a slide scale 
based on the customer retention percentage. Where the Retention Percentage Achieved 
is less than or equal to 60%, the amount shall be zero and anything above 85% being 
$4 million. 
 

Contingent consideration (2)  Up to $3 million cash on or around August/September 2021 conditional upon the 
retention of a key franchise group licensing MyDesktop. The qualification for this hurdle 
requires that customer extend the contract (migrating to VaultRE) for a minimum term of 
2 years beyond the current contract expiry date of 1 July 2021 for Australia. The total 
amount payable is also tied to the extension of the same franchise group independently 
for the regions New Zealand and Indonesia (noting that Australia accounts for over 
80%).  
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17. Vendor payables (continued)

Harcourts International Ltd 
Contingent consideration  Up to $300,000 paid to the vendor to only be paid when the following conditions are met: 

 at least 80% of both the Seller’s Australian and New Zealand franchisee
network (defined by the number of offices but allowing for the potential
consolidation of office numbers of multi-office franchisees) having migrated to
the Buyer’s PTG CRM, as contemplated by the Supply Agreement (Migration);
and

 the Migration being completed within 18 months from ‘Product Readiness’
otherwise agreed between the parties in writing (Migration Period).

JMCG Pty Ltd 
Contingent consideration (1) Up to $375,000 and will be on or around  February 2022, paid in equity or cash at the 

discretion of the buyer which will be issued at a VWAP of 1 month. The qualifications for 
this hurdle are: 

 JMCG Pty Ltd’s annual SaaS revenue does not fall below its current amount
which will be confirmed during the Due Diligence and mutually agreed; and

 The Designly product is supported and maintained to a standard that is in line
with its service-level agreement.

Contingent consideration (1) Up to $375,000 and will be on or around  February 2023, paid in equity or cash at the 
discretion of the buyer which will be issued at a VWAP of 1 month. The qualifications for 
this hurdle are: 

 JMCG Pty Ltd’s annual SaaS revenue does not fall below its current amount
which will be confirmed during the Due Diligence and mutually agreed; and

 The Designly product is supported and maintained to a standard that is in line
with its service-level agreement.

The fair value of non-current portion of contingent consideration is estimated materially the same as their nominal value. 
Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments. 
 

18. Lease liabilities

Consolidated 
2021 2020 

$ $ 
Current 
Lease liability 84,126 - 

Non-current 
Lease liability 209,402 - 

293,528 - 
 Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments. 
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19. Employee benefits 
 Expenses recognised for employee benefits are analysed below: 
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
Employee benefits expense  $  $ 
     
Salaries, wages and leave allowances (including consultancy charges)  5,676,275  1,131,879 
Defined contribution superannuation expenses  421,625  78,489 
Short term employee benefits  6,097,900  1,210,368 
     
Other long-term benefits, including movement in provisions  (3,222)  32,936 
     
On-costs  341,431  11,084 
Total  6,436,109  1,254,388 
     
Employee benefits liabilities     
Provision for employee entitlements – current  484,921  168,041 
Provision for employee entitlements – non-current  40,722  110,561 
  
Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months 
The current provision for employee benefits includes all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the 
required period of service and also those where employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances. The 
entire amount is presented as current, since the Consolidated entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement. 
However, based on past experience, the Consolidated entity does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued 
leave or require payment within the next 12 months. 
 
20. Issued capital 
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020  2021  2020 
  Shares  Shares  $  $ 
         
Ordinary shares - fully paid  123,540,696  233,205,108  30,300,043  16,159,312 

 

 
Movements in ordinary share capital 
Details  Date  Shares*  Issue price  Issued capital 
      $  $ 
         
Balance as of 30 June 2020  30-Jun-20  223,205,108  16,159,312 
         
Consolidation of shares in the ratio of 20:1  6-Oct-20  (221,544,800)  -  - 
    11,660,308    16,159,312 
         
Issue of shares to retail and institutional investors  19-Nov-20  42,400,000  $0.25  10,600,000 
Issue of shares to the original shareholders of Real 
Estate CRM Pty Ltd (refer to note 3) 

 
19-Nov-20 

 
64,900,048 

 
$0.04 

 
2,915,077 

Issue of shares to Key Management Personnel in 
consideration for services performed 

 
19-Nov-20 

 
2,344,064 

 
$0.21 

 
498,996 

Issue of shares for consideration of purchase of JMCG 
Pty Ltd (refer to Note 25) 

 
8-Mar-21 

 
1,623,774 

 
$0.37 

 
600,000 

Issue of shares for consideration of purchase of 
intangible assets from Harcourts International Ltd 

 
6-Apr-21 

 
612,502 

 
$0.49 

 
300,000 

Share issue transaction costs, net of tax    -  -  (773,342) 
         
Balance as of 30 June 2021  30-Jun-21  123,540,696    30,300,043 

 

*Per AASB 3, the equity structure (i.e., the number of ordinary shares issued) reflects the equity structure of PTG (the 
accounting acquiree), including the shares issued by PTG to effect the reverse acquisition transaction. Per Note 3 for 
further details. 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



PropTech Group Limited 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
30 June 2021 

 

  

  
67 

20. Issued capital (continued) 
 
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the Company 
does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
  
Share buy-back 
There is no current on-market share buy-back. 
  
Capital risk management 
The Consolidated entity's objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that 
it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital. 
  
Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated 
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 
  
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Consolidated entity may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from prior year. 
 
21. Reserves 
  
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Share based payment reserve  5,486 - 
Foreign currency translation reserve  8,938 14,589 
     
  14,424  14,589 

 

 
Share based payment reserve 
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise: 

 the grant date fair value of options issued to employees but not exercised 
 the grant date fair value of shares issued to employees 
 the grant date fair value of deferred shares granted to employees but not yet vested 

 
Foreign currency reserve 
The reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations to Australian dollars.  
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 21. Reserves (continued) 
 
Movements in reserves 
Movements in each class of reserve during the current and previous financial year are set out below: 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Foreign 
 Share 

based  
      currency  payment  Total 
Consolidated      $  $ $ 
          
Balance at 13 February 2020      -  - - 
Exchange differences on translating the net 
assets of foreign operations, net of tax 

 
 
 

 
 

14,589 
 

- 14,589 
          
Balance at 30 June 2020      14,589  - 14,589 
Exchange differences on translating the net 
assets of foreign operations, net of tax 

 
 
 

 
 

(5,651) 
 

- (5,651) 
Credit to equity for equity-settled share-based 
payments, net of deferred tax 

 
 
 

 
 

- 
 

5,486 5,486 
          
Balance at 30 June 2021      8,938  5,486 14,424 
  

22. Accumulated losses 
  
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year  (384,581)  - 
Loss after income tax expense for the year  (1,001,353)  (384,581) 
     
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year  (1,385,934)  (384,581) 
  

23. Financial instruments 
  
Financial risk management objectives 
The Consolidated entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:  

 market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk and interest rate risk); 
 credit risk; and  
 liquidity risk 

 
The Consolidated entity’s overall risk management program focuses on managing these risks and implementing and 
monitoring of controls around the cash management function. 
 
The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework 
which is summarised below: 
 
Market risk 
Foreign currency risk 
The Consolidated entity undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign currency 
risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations. 
  
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and 
cash flow forecasting. 
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23. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Market risk (continued) 
Foreign currency risk (continued) 
The Consolidated entity exposure to currency risk was comprised as follows: 
 
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Financial assets  1,228,922  278,608 
Financial liabilities  (71,042)  (39,961) 
     
Net exposure  1,157,880  238,647 

 

 
Following analysis of historical data over the 6 months and expected currency rate movements for the year ended 30 June 
2021, together with consultation with the Board, the Consolidated entity considers the movements in the table below in 
Australia Dollars is considered reasonably possible for the reporting period. This analysis is performed on the same basis 
as prior year and is not guaranteed. 
 
A strengthening/weakening of the AUD to the extent indicated against the currencies listed below at 30 June would have 
increased/(decreased) the net profit before income tax and the statement of financial position by the amounts shown 
below: 
  
Consolidated – 2021    

 
 

 
 New Zealand 

dollar 
 British 

Pound 
 

Total 
         
Rate change (Increases)    5%  10%    
Net exposure    1,071,362 86,518 1,157,880
Net loss before income tax    53,568  8,652  62,220 
Statement of Financial Position    53,568  8,652  62,220 
         
Rate change (Decreases)    5%  10%   
Net exposure    1,071,362 86,518 1,157,880 
Net loss before income tax    (53,568) (8,652) 62,220 
Statement of Financial Position    (53,568) (8,652) 62,220 
 
As per AASB 9 the Company reviewed its foreign currency exposure rate and has adjusted the New Zealand dollar a from 
10% in financial year 2020 to 5% in financial year 2021 in line with the foreign exchange volatility over the past 6 months. 
 
 
Consolidated – 2020 

 
  

 
 

 
 New Zealand 

dollar 
 British 

Pound 
 

Total 
Rate change (Increases)    10%  10%    
Net exposure    232,964 5,683 238,647
Net loss before income tax    23,296  568  23,864 
Statement of Financial Position    23,296  568  23,864 
         
Rate change (Decreases)    10%  10%   
Net exposure    232,964  5683  238,647 
Net loss before income tax    (23,296)  (568)  (23,864) 
Statement of Financial Position    (23,296)  (568)  (23,864) 

 

 
Price risk 
The Consolidated entity is not exposed to any significant price risk. 
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23. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Market risk (continued) 
Interest rate risk 
The Consolidated entity holds its surplus cash in bank deposits with floating interest rates. The Consolidated entity analyses 
its interest rate exposure on an ongoing basis. Currently there are no assets or liabilities that are materially exposed to 
variations in interest rate changes. 
  
Credit risk 
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at reporting date amounts to 
$7,560,285 (2020: $2,803,577) which relates to the carrying amount of financial assets (comprising Cash and cash 
equivalents, other financial assets at amortised cost, trade receivables net of allowance for expected credit losses), 
contract assets and security deposits as disclosed in the statement of financial position and Notes 8, 9, 10 and 11 to the 
financial statements.The Consolidated entity’s cash at bank is deposited with Westpac Banking Corporation, Suncorp 
Bank, ASB Bank Limited, Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (ANZ) ,National Australia Bank, Bank of New 
Zealand (BNZ) and Clydesdale bank UK. 
 
Trade and other receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the 
Consolidated entity, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 180 days past due. The 
Consolidated entity applies the AASB 9 Financial Instruments simplified approach’ to measuring expected credit losses which 
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as 
net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
the same line item. To measure the expected credit losses, trade and other receivables have been grouped based on the 
days past due.  
 
The Consolidated entity holds material contracts with which, the material credit risk exposure is low as the nature of the 
business being core to the management and day to day operations of the customers’ business, this creates a natural hedge. 
The expected loss rates for the Consolidated entity reflect current and forward-looking information mainly, changes in the 
macro-economic environment which have placed significant downward pressure on all businesses in Australia and New 
Zealand. On that basis, the loss allowance as at 30 June 2021 has been calculated in Note 9 which contains the reconciliation 
of the opening and closing loss allowances. 
  
Liquidity risk 
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Consolidated entity to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash 
equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable. 
  
The Consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by 
continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
  
Contractual maturities 
The following tables detail the Consolidated entity's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The 
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining 
contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position: 
 

 

 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 
1 year or 

less 

 
Between 1 

and 2 years 

 
Between 2 

and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

Consolidated - 2021  %  $  $  $  $  $ 
             
Non-derivatives             
Non-interest bearing             
Trade and other payables    2,656,059  -  -  -  2,656,059 
Vendor payables    3,375,000  675,000  -  -  4,050,000 
Other payables    320,063  -  -  -  320,063 
             
Interest-bearing - fixed rate             
Lease liability  4.52%  82,635  126,060  105,525  -  314,220 
Total non-derivatives    6,433,757  801,060  105,525  -  7,340,342 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



PropTech Group Limited 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
30 June 2021 
 

  

  
71 

23. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk (continued) 
Contractual maturities (continued) 

 

 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 
1 year or 

less 

 
Between 1 

and 2 years 

 
Between 2 

and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

Consolidated - 2020  %  $  $  $  $  $ 
             
Non-derivatives             
Non-interest bearing             
Trade payables  -  1,034,921  -  -  -  1,034,921 
Vendor payables  -  6,000,000  3,000,000  -  -  9,000,000 
             
Interest-bearing - fixed rate             
Lease liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Total non-derivatives  -  7,034,921  3,000,000  -  -  10,034,921 
  
The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed 
above. 
  
Fair value of financial instruments 
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. 
  
24. Fair value measurement 
  
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values due to their short-term nature.  
 
The fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market 
interest rate that is available for similar financial liabilities.  
 
No financial assets or liabilities are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form.  
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25. Business combinations 
  
Business combinations in the financial year 2021 
JMCG Pty Limited (trading as “Website Blue”) acquisition 
 
On 6 March 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the ordinary shares of JMCG Pty Limited (trading as “Website Blue”) for a 
total consideration of $1,500,000, which consists of 3 traches:  
 

 Initial Consideration - $750,000 consisting of $150,000 paid in cash and $600,000 paid in PropTech Group shares 
at a 30-day trading VWAP from date of signing of the Share purchase agreement, less working capital adjustment 
paid to PropTech Group for the amount of $68,633; 
 

 First Year Earn Out – $375,000 to be issued in cash or shares at PropTech Group’s discretion, provided specific 
hurdles are met, assessable 12 months from the acquisition date;  
 

 Second Year Earn Out – $375,000 to be issued in cash or shares at PropTech Group’s discretion, provided 
specific hurdles are met, assessable 24 months from the acquisition date 

 
Based in Brisbane, QLD, Website Blue offers real estate agencies a full-service web design package along with a product 
called ‘Designly’ which enables agencies to deploy and manage marketing assets and campaigns. 
 
The Board believes this acquisition will provide synergies and strengthen the Group’s current product offerings with the 
ability to leverage its current assets to excel the growth of the acquisition, along with the ability to extract synergies from a 
cost perspective. 
 
Details of the acquisition are as follows: 
  
  Fair value 
  $ 
Cash and cash equivalents  22,221 
Trade and other receivables  62,027 
Other assets  17,806 
Trade and other payables  (42,041) 
Employee benefits  (15,111) 
   
Net assets acquired  44,902 
Goodwill  1,386,465 
   
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred  1,431,367 
   
Representing:   
Cash paid or payable to vendor  150,000 
Equity of PropTech Group Limited issued  600,000 
Contingent consideration payable1  750,000 
Add: Payment from vendor for capital working adjustment  (68,633) 
   
  1,431,367 
   
Acquisition costs expensed to profit or loss  97,577 
   
Cash used to acquire business, net of cash acquired:   
   
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred  1,431,367 
Less: Consideration provided in Equity of PropTech Group Limited  (600,000)
Less: Deferred and contingent consideration payable  (750,000)
  
   
Net cash used as at 30 June 2021  81,367 
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25. Business combinations (continued) 
 
Business combinations in the financial year 2021 (continued) 
JMCG Pty Limited (trading as “Website Blue”) acquisition (continued) 
 
1Deferred conditional consideration of $750,000 (“Conditional Consideration”) split into two tranches of $375,000. Each 
payment conditional, which are to be distributed as follows: 

 First Year Earn Out – $375,000 to be issued in cash or shares at PropTech Group’s discretion, provided specific 
hurdles are met, assessable 12 months from the acquisition date, if shares are elected they will be issued at a VWAP 
of 1 month; and  

 Second Year Earn Out – $375,000 to be issued in cash or shares at PropTech Group’s discretion, provided specific 
hurdles are met, assessable 24 months from the acquisition date, if shares are elected they will be issued at a VWAP 
of 1 month 

 
Business combinations in the financial year 2020 
 
The business combinations that occurred in the previous financial year have now been finalised and detailed below are the 
final values. The finalisation of business combination accounting in accordance with AASB 3 has resulted in a decrease of 
$6,676,100 to goodwill mainly due to recognition of identifiable intangible assets, net of deferred tax liabilities. 
 
Commerce Australia Pty Ltd (trading as “MyDesktop”) and Vault Group acquisition 
On 13 March 2020, Real Estate CRM Pty Ltd acquired 100% of the ordinary shares of Commerce Australia Pty Ltd (trading 
as “MyDesktop”) for total consideration of $14,416,110 which was made up of an agreed consideration for MyDesktop of 
$14,000,000, with a payment for working capital adjustment of $416,110. MyDesktop is a leading real estate industry CRM 
tool in ANZ, with features covering the whole property and contact life cycle. MyDesktop offers its products on a SaaS basis 
to customers in ANZ and Indonesia with training and support on an ongoing basis. The goodwill represents the expected 
future economic benefits from the software and consumer base acquisition.  
 
On 13 March 2020, Real Estate CRM Pty Ltd acquired 100% of the ordinary shares of Vault Group Pty Limited (“Vault 
Group”) for the total consideration of $10,000,000, which was settled by way of issue of ordinary shares of Real Estate 
CRM Pty Ltd to the former shareholders of Vault Group Pty Ltd. Acquisition of 100% of the ordinary shares of Vault Group 
Pty Ltd provides Real Estate CRM Pty Ltd with control over six subsidiaries of the Vault Group. Vault Group and its 
controlled entities offer a best of breed real estate industry CRM tool which operates in Australia, New Zealand and the 
United Kingdom. Vault Group also offers auxiliary services that assist with the whole property and contact life cycle. The 
goodwill represents the expected future economic benefits from the best of breed real estate industry CRM tool that offers 
not just sales but also property management functionality, other SaaS products, a consumer base which also gives a foot 
into the UK market and the experienced management and development team that developed and operated MyDesktop 
before being sold to Domain. 
 
During the current year, an independent valuation of the fair value of the intangible assets owned by Vault Group and 
Commerce Australia Pty Ltd was carried out. Details of the finalised acquisitions are as follows: 
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25. Business combinations (continued) 
 
Commerce Australia Pty Ltd (trading as “MyDesktop”) and Vault Group acquisition (continued) 
 
Balance at 13 March 2020 (acquisition date) 
 
 
 

 Commerce 
Australia 
Pty Ltd 

  
Vault 

Group 

  
Measureme

nt period 
adjustment 

  
Acquisition 
combined  

  Fair value  Fair value  Note (a)  Fair value 
  $  $  $  $ 

Cash and cash equivalents  460,966  289,611  -  750,577 
Trade and other receivables  279,103  128,236  -  407,339 
Allowance for expected credit losses  (17,158)  -  -  (17,158) 
Current assets – Other  28,711  -  -  28,711 
Plant and equipment  -  4,108  -  4,108 
Intangible assets – Software  1,411,487  -  1,818,000  3,229,487 
Intangible assets – patents and trademarks  -  12,916  -  12,916 
Intangible assets – Customer contracts  -  -  6,565,000  6,565,000 
Deferred tax assets  513,099  -  -  513,099 
Trade and other payables  -  (231,034)  -  (231,034) 
Accrued expenses  (15,190)  -  -  (15,190) 
Borrowings  -  (261,869)  -  (261,869) 
Deferred revenues  (226,319)  -  -  (226,319) 
Income tax payable  -  (6,187)  -  (6,187) 
Deferred tax liabilities  (12,151)  -  (1,706,900)  (1,719,051) 
Unearned revenues  (28,477)  -  -  (28,477) 
Annual leave provisions of transferring 
employees 

 (31,287)  (45,061)  -  (76,348) 

Long service leave provisions of transferring 
employees 

 (44,195)  (11,438)  -  (55,633) 

Net assets acquired  2,318,589  (120,718)  6,676,100  8,873,971 
Goodwill  12,097,521  10,120,718  (6,676,100)  15,542,139 

         
Acquisition-date fair value of the total 
consideration transferred 

  
14,416,110 

  
10,000,000 

  
- 

  
24,416,110 

         
Representing:         
Cash paid  5,416,110  -  -  5,416,110 
Deferred and contingent consideration payable  9,000,000  -  -  9,000,000 
Equity shares issued*  -  10,000,000  -  10,000,000 
         
  14,416,110  10,000,000  -  24,416,110 
         
Acquisition costs expensed to profit or loss  198,282  137,543  -  335,825 
         
Cash used to acquire business, net of cash 
acquired: 

 
 

      

Acquisition-date fair value of the total 
consideration transferred 

 14,416,110  10,000,000  -  24,416,110 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired (net 
of borrowings repaid) 

 (460,966)  (27,742)  -  (488,708) 

Less: Equity shares issued*  -  (10,000,000)  -  (10,000,000) 
Less: Deferred and contingent consideration 
payable 

 (9,000,000)  -  -  (9,000,000) 

         
Net cash used / (acquired)  4,955,144  (27,742)  -  4,927,402 

*Issue of equity shares of Real Estate CRM Pty Ltd to the former shareholders of Vault Group Pty Ltd (10,000,000 equity 
shares at an issue price of $1.00 per share). 
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25. Business combinations (continued) 
Commerce Australia Pty Ltd (trading as “MyDesktop”) and Vault Group acquisition (continued) 
 
25 (a) - Measurement Period Adjustments  
 
In accordance with AASB 3, pursuant to finalisation of acquisition accounting of Commerce Australia Pty Ltd and Vault Group 
Pty Ltd in the current year (being the measurement period), the Group has recognised adjustments to the provisional amounts 
as if the accounting for the business combination had been completed at the acquisition date (13 March 2020). Thus, the 
Group has revised comparative information for prior periods presented in financial statements as needed, including making 
changes to amortisation effects recognised in completing the initial accounting. The following table shows the changes made 
to revise the comparative financial information pursuant to measurement period adjustments: 
 
Consolidated statement of financial position 30 June 2020 

Current 
comparatives 

$ 

30 June 2020 
Reported in prior 

year 
$ 

 
 

Change 
$ 

Intangible assets    
    Goodwill 15,542,139 22,218,239 (6,676,100) 
    Software 2,633,181 906,181 1,727,000 
    Customer contracts 6,346,000 - 6,346,000 
    Patents and trademarks 8,243 8,243 - 
 24,529,563 23,132,663 1,396,900 
    
Deferred tax liabilities (1,682,794) 32,894 1,649,900 
    
Reserves / (Accumulated losses) (384,581) (131,581) (253,000) 
    
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 

   

    
Depreciation and amortisation expense (824,799) (514,799) (310,000) 
    
Loss before income taxes (308,631) 1,369 (310,000) 
    
Income tax expense  (75,950) (132,950) 57,000 
    
Loss after income tax expense  (384,581) (131,581) (253,000) 
    
Total comprehensive loss for the period (369,992) (116,992) (253,000) 

  
26. Remuneration of auditors 
  
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by RSM Australia Partners, the auditor 
of the Company, its network firms and unrelated firms: 
 
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Audit services – RSM Australia Partners     
Audit and review of the financial statements  74,300  11,000 
Audit and review of the financial statements –subsidiaries and acquisitions  67,185  - 
     
Other services – RSM Australia Partners     
Investigating Accountant’s Report  - Prospectus  32,750  - 
     
  174,235  11,000 
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27. Contingent assets and liabilities 
  
The Consolidated entity had no contingent assets or contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 (2020: Nil). 
  
28. Related party transactions 
  
Parent entity 
PropTech Group Limited is the Parent entity. 
  
Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 30.  
 
Key management personnel 
Key management personnel are identified as the following personnel: 

 Board of Directors 
 Chief Executive Officer 
 Chief Financial Officer 

 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in this note 28 and the remuneration report included in the 
directors' report. 
 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the Consolidated 
entity is set out below. 
KMP Compensation 
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Short-term employee benefits  1,162,333  - 
Post-employment benefits  43,702  - 
Long-term benefits  -  - 
Share-based payments  5,486  - 
     
  1,211,521  - 
 
This includes one Key Management Personnel who came on board 19th November 2020 as part of the reverse acquisition 
transaction (refer note 3).  
 
Balances owing to/from Key Management Personnel 
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 
 
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Current payables:     
Short-term employee benefits payable  569,000  - 
Trade payables for consulting and corporate services  17,500  39,558 
     
  586,500  39,558 
 
Current payables due to directors are for director fees owing and are paid on normal commercial terms.  All are non-
interest bearing and unsecured. 
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28. Related party transactions (continued) 
 
Transactions with related parties 
The following transactions occurred with related parties: 
  
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Payment for goods and services:     
Consulting and corporate services fee expenses1  225,628  109,573 
Sales Director fees2  83,234  - 
     
  308,862  109,573 
1.These services were provided by the executive and senior team of Real Estate Investar Group Limited, pre 19 November 
2020. 
2.On 27 August 2020 RECRM entered into an agreement with Global Online Classifieds Pty Ltd (Simon Baker is a majority 
shareholder and director), for the services of James Gray to act as Head of Sales for RECRM , this agreement ceased on 
4 June 2021.  
 
Receivable from and payable to related parties 
As at 30 June 2021 (2020: Nil) there were no Receivable from and payable to related parties, except what is disclosed in 
Balances owing to/from Key Management Personnel. 
 
Loans to/from related parties 
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 
  
Terms and conditions 
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 
  
29. Parent entity information 
  
Set out below is the supplementary information about the Parent entity. 
 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
   Parent 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
(Loss) after income tax  (1,079,118)  (338,764) 
     
Total comprehensive loss  (1,079,118)  (338,764) 
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29. Parent entity information (continued) 
 
Statement of financial position 
  
  Parent 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Total current assets  2,154,798  222,151 
     
Total assets  37,098,738  24,884,249 
     
Total current liabilities  1,670,703  6,063,701 
     
Total liabilities  2,045,703  9,063,701 
     
Equity     

Issued capital  41,292,821  16,159,312 
Reserves  397,310  - 
Retained profits / (accumulated loss)   (6,637,096)  (338,764) 

     
Total equity  35,053,035  15,820,548 

 

 
Contingent liabilities 
The Parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 (2020: nil). 
  
Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment 
The Parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2021 (2020: nil). 
  
Significant accounting policies 
The accounting policies of the Parent entity are consistent with those of the Consolidated entity, as disclosed in note 1, 
except the investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the Parent entity. 
 
30. Interests in subsidiaries 
  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following wholly-owned subsidiaries 
in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1: 
    Ownership interest 
  Principal place of business /  2021  2020 
Name  Country of incorporation  %  % 
       
Real Estate CRM Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%  - 
Commerce Australia Pty Ltd^  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Vault Group Pty Limited^  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Vaultrealestate Pty Ltd*  Australia  100.00%   100.00% 
Clientvault Pty Ltd*  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Rentfind Technologies Pty Ltd*  Australia  100.00%  100.00% 
Rentfind.com.au Pty Ltd*  Australia  100.00%  100.00% 
Clientvault UK Pty Ltd*  United Kingdom  100.00%  100.00% 
Complete RE Solutions Pty Ltd*  Australia  100.00%  100.00% 
Real Estate Investar Australia Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%  - 
Real Estate Investar Accounting Services Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%  - 
Property Investor Developments Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%  - 
Real Estate Investar Ltd  New Zealand  100.00%  - 
REI Accounting Services Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%  - 
JMCG Pty Ltd (Trading as “Website Blue”)  Australia  100.00%  - 
 
*Subsidiaries of Vault Group Pty Limited 
^Subsidiaries of Real Estate CRM Pty Limited 
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31. Events subsequent to the reporting period 
  
Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while the Consolidated entity has not been negatively 
impacted up to 30 June 2021, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting 
date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Australian Government and other 
countries, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus 
that may be provided. 
 
Eagle business combination 
The Company entered into a Share Sale and Purchase Agreement on the 28 June 2021, for the acquisition of 100% of 
the ordinary shares in Eagle Software Pty Ltd (‘Eagle’). The total consideration for this acquisition is $15,000,000 (including 
contingent consideration of $7,500,000) which will be settled by a combination of cash and equity interests of the 
Company. The effective date of acquisition is 1 July 2021.  
 
Eagle is an innovative and modern real estate CRM, website and marketing solution provider focused on independent, 
boutique and small multi-office real estate agencies. Currently, it is used by more than 800 agency offices across Australia 
and New Zealand. The acquisition of Eagle advances PropTech Group’s objective to own, operate and invest in high-
quality property technology businesses that primarily focus on the Australian, New Zealand and United Kingdom residential 
and commercial real estate markets. 
 
The goodwill of $14,902,791 represents the expected future economic benefits from the business-to-business tools, a 
consumer base, and the experienced management and development team that developed and operated Eagle software. 
If the business was acquired and accounted for during the year ended 30 June 2021, Eagle would have brought in 
revenues of $3,297,871 and a profit before tax of 892,634 to the Consolidated entity. 
 
Details of the acquisition are as follows: 
  Fair value 
  $ 
Cash and cash equivalents  78,216 
Trade and other receivables  116,707 
Other current assets  43,797 
Trade and other payables  (38,632) 
Other current liabilities  (91,590) 
Other non-current liabilities  (11,289) 
   
Net assets acquired  97,209 
Goodwill  14,902,791 
   
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred  15,000,000 
   
Representing:   
Cash paid or payable to vendor  4,106,250 
Equity of PropTech Group Limited (issued on 23 July 2021)  3,393,750 
Contingent consideration payable1  7,500,000 
   
  15,000,000 
   
Acquisition costs expensed to profit or loss  - 
   
Cash used to acquire business, net of cash acquired:   
   
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred  15,000,000 
Less: Consideration provided in Equity of PropTech Group Limited  (3,393,750) 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired  (78,216) 
Less: Deferred and contingent consideration payable  (7,500,000) 
   
Net cash used  4,028,034 
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31. Events subsequent to the reporting period (continued) 
  
Eagle business combination (continued) 
Management provisional assessment of Eagle’s performance for the year ended 30 June 2021 is: 

 Sales revenue of $3,297,871 
 Profit before tax of $892,634 

 
Capital raise and share issue 
During July 2021, the Company completed a capital raise of $15,506,398 (before share-issue costs) by the issue of 
21,536,664 fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.72 each. 
 
The Company issued 4,508,104 ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.75 each (valued at $3,393,750) to the vendors of 
Eagle, in part consideration for the acquisition of 100% of the ordinary shares in Eagle.  
 
FinTech Joint Venture 
On the 18 August 2021, the PropTech Group signed a Non-Binding Term Sheet to enter into a joint venture with Flip 
Money, Convini Pty Ltd and BC Investment Group Australia Pty to incorporate a new entity PropPay Holdings Pty Ltd 
(PropPay). PtopTech Group will begin with a 20% shareholding in PropPay Holdings Pty Ltd with the right to earn in 
additional equity based on revenue contribution performance. 
 
PropPay is a payments platform that will allow real estate agency operators and third-party platforms to offer payments 
and buy now pay later (BNPL) solutions to their customers for real estate related services. 
 
Apart from the above disclosed, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2021 that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect the Consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the 
Consolidated entity's state of affairs in future financial years. 

32. Reconciliation of profit/ (loss) after income tax to net cash from operating activities 
  
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
(Loss) after income tax expense for the year  (1,001,353)  (384,581) 
     
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation and amortisation  2,218,374  824,799 
Issue of shares in consideration for corporate and consultancy charges  498,996  250,000 
Unrealised exchange losses  16,410  3,338 
Bad debts and allowance for expected credit losses  (6,119)  6,476 
Share-based payments  5,486  - 
     
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  (283,570)  61,136 
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets  217,621  - 
Increase in deferred tax assets  183,804  (44,657) 
Increase in prepayments  (118,427)  - 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  (319,480)  536,337 
Increase in contract liabilities  76,127  - 
Increase/(decrease) in provision for income tax  (283,350)  139,603 
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities  (225,638)  (57,000) 
Increase in employee benefits  156,953  179,517 

     
Net cash from operating activities  1,135,834  1,514,968 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



PropTech Group Limited 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
30 June 2021 
 

  

  
81 

33. Non-cash investing and financing activities 
  
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Additions to the right-of-use assets  302,841  - 
Shares issued in consideration of reverse acquisition (refer Note 3)  2,915,077  - 
Shares issued in consideration for acquisition of business / assets  900,000  10,000,000 
     
  4,117,918  10,000,000 
  

34. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 
  
      Lease 
      liability 
Consolidated      $ 
       
Balance at 1 July 2019      - 
       
Balance at 30 June 2020      - 
      
Acquisition of building leases      302,841 
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities      (9,313) 
       
       
Balance at 30 June 2021      293,528 

 

35. Earnings per share 
  
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
  $  $ 
     
Loss after income tax  (1,001,353)  (384,581) 
     
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of PropTech Group Limited  (1,001,353)  (384,581) 
  
  Number  Number 
     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share  100,171,250  52,509,468 
Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:     

Options over ordinary shares  -  - 
     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share  100,171,250  52,509,468 
  F
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  Cents  Cents 
     
Basic loss per share  (1.00)  (0.73) 
Diluted loss per share  (1.00)  (0.73) 
  
Note: Potential shares comprising options over ordinary shares have not been considered in the calculation of weighted 
average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share as they are anti-dilutive in nature.  
 
As required by AASB 133, the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the current and previous 
period has been adjusted for consolidation of ordinary shares as if the event had occurred at the beginning of the previous 
period.  
 
36. Share based payments 
 
There were no new options granted during the financial year 2021. No options have been exercised in the reporting period. 
The options do not carry any dividend or voting rights.  
 
  Consolidated 
  2021  2020 
Share based payment expenses recognised during the financial year  $  $ 
     
Share options to director  5,486  - 
     
  5,486  - 
 

Grant date 
Exercise 

price* 

Balance at 
beginning of 

year* 

Granted 
during the 

year* 

Lapsed / 
expired during 

the year* 

Exercised 
during the 

year* 

Exercisable at 
the end of the 

year* 

Outstanding at 
the end of the 

year* 

10-Dec-15 $4.00 125,000 - (125,000) - - - 

28-Apr-16 $4.00 22,500 - (22,500) - - - 

29-Nov-18 $0.30 200,000 - - - 200,000 200,000 

29-Jan-19 $0.24 200,000 - - - 200,000 200,000 

31-Jan-19 $0.30 200,000 - - - 200,000 200,000 

  747,500  (147,500)  600,000 600,000 

*The above represents share options issued by the legal entity, PropTech Group Limited (formerly Real Estate Investar 
Group Limited) in the previous years. The exercise price and the number of options have been reported after considering 
consolidation of shares (20:1) which occurred during the year.  
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In the directors' opinion: 
  
●  the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the 

Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 
  
●  the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements; 
  
●  the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 

30 June 2021 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 
  
●  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 

and payable. 
  
The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
  
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
  
On behalf of the directors 
  
  
  
  
___________________________ 
Simon Baker 
Chairman 
  
30 August 2021 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Members of PropTech Group Limited 

 

Opinion 

 
We have audited the financial report of PropTech Group Limited (formerly Real Estate Investar Group Limited) 

(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”) which comprises the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of 

cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies, and the directors' declaration.  

 

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its financial 

performance for the year then ended; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  

 

Basis for Opinion 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our 

report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 

Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to 

the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this 

auditor's report. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 

of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 

these matters.  
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Key Audit Matters (Continued) 

 
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed this matter 

Valuation of Goodwill, including impairment assessment  

Refer to Note 13 in the financial statements 

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had goodwill with a 

carrying amount of $21 million (approx. 55% of the total 

assets of the Group) relating to the business acquisitions 

in the current and previous financial periods.  

 

As required by AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, (“AASB 

136”) management performed an impairment testing over 

the goodwill balance as at 30 June 2021 by: 

 

• calculating the recoverable amount of each identified 

cash generating units (“CGU”) using a discounted 

cash flow model. This model used cash flow 

projections for the CGUs for 5 years, with a terminal 

growth rate applied to the 5th year. The cash flow 

projections, then were discounted to their net 

present value using the Group’s weighted average 

cost of capital (“WACC”); and 

 

• comparing the resulting value in use of each CGU to 

its carrying amount. 

 

Management identified there are two CGUs for the 

purpose of testing goodwill impairment. As a result of this 

testing, no impairment of goodwill was determined as at 

30 June 2021. In addition, management performed a 

sensitivity analysis over the value in use calculations, by 

varying the assumptions used to assess the impact on 

the valuations.   

 

We assessed the impairment testing of goodwill to be a 

Key Audit Matter due to the materiality of the goodwill 

balance. Also, because the impairment testing involves 

significant level of judgements and estimations such as the 

determination of the existing CGUs, the estimation of future 

underlying cash flows of the business, including the growth 

rates for the CGUs for the next 5 years as well as in 

perpetuity ‘about the and the discount rates applied to the 

estimated cash flows. We note that the impact and 

uncertainties resulted from the COVID-19 pandemic has 

increased the level of difficulty in estimating future cash 

flows.   

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment testing  

of goodwill involved the assistance of our Corporate 

Finance team, and included: 

 

• Assessing management’s determination that goodwill 

should be allocated to two CGUs; 

 

• Assessing and challenging the reasonableness of key 

assumptions used in the discounted cash flow model, 

including the cash flow projections, future growth 

rates, discount rate applied and terminal value. We 

also assessed whether the key assumptions adopted 

were applied on a consistent basis across the model;  

 

• Verifying the mathematical accuracy of the cash flow 

model and reconciling input data to supporting 

evidence, such as approved budgets; 

 

• Reviewing management’s sensitivity analysis over the 

key assumptions in the model and assessing the 

reasonableness of the changes in key assumptions 

used in the analysis to determine when those changes 

would cause an impairment to be recognised; and  

 

• Reviewing the disclosures in Note 13 to the financial 

statements to assess the appropriateness, 

completeness and compliance with the disclosure 

requirements of AASB136 and AASB138 Intangible 

assets.  
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Key Audit Matters (Continued) 

 

Accounting for Business Combinations (including Reverse Acquisitions) 

Refer to Note 3 and Note 25 in the financial statements 

During the year: 

 

• the Group completed the acquisition of 100% of the 

ordinary shares of Real Estate CRM Pty Ltd 

("RECRM") and its wholly-owned subsidiaries under 

a share exchange agreement. This transaction 

required an assessment in accordance with AASB 3 

Business Combinations (“AASB 3”)  to ensure the 

appropriate identification of the ‘accounting acquirer’, 

along with other matters. 

 

• the Group acquired control of JMCG Pty Ltd (trading 

as Website Blue), as well completed the acquisition 

of Eagle Software Group, post balance sheet date. 

The Group has considered these transactions to be 

business combinations.  

 

• In addition, in accordance with AASB 3, the Group 

finalised the acquisition accounting of two significant 

business combinations occurred in the prior year,  

which resulted in the recognition of identifiable 

intangible assets in the measurement period.  

 

The accounting of business combination was considered 

a Key Audit Matter as the accounting for the transactions 

is complex and involves significant judgements in 

applying the accounting standards. These matters include 

the identification of the acquirer, recognition and valuation 

of consideration paid and payable, the determination of 

the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed and the identification and valuation of intangible 

assets not previously recognised by the business 

acquired.  

 

 

Our audit procedures included, among others:  

 

• Obtaining the securities purchase agreements, 

shareholder agreements and other associated 

documents to understand the key terms and 

conditions, and ensuring that the transactions had 

been accounted for in compliance with AASB 3; 

• Corroborating the cash consideration paid, as well as 

the appropriate of the valuation of share-based 

consideration paid; 

• Reviewing management’s process for identification of 

the acquirer, calculation of purchase consideration, 

acquisition date, determinations of fair values of net 

assets acquired.  having regard to the completeness 

of assets and liabilities identified and the 

reasonableness of any underlying assumptions and 

the resultant goodwill;  

• Reviewing the reasonableness of the methodology 

adopted to identify intangible assets previously not 

recognised, as well as to determine their fair value at 

acquisition date; and  

• Reviewing the adequacy of the relevant disclosures in 

the financial report in compliance with the 

requirements of AASB 3, including but not limited to 

fair values, reverse acquisition, comparative 

information and measurement period adjustments.  
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Key Audit Matters (Continued) 

 
Recognition of Revenue 

Refer to Note 5 in the financial statements 

The Group’s revenue from operations for the year ended 

30 June 2021 was $11.17 million.  

 

Whilst revenue recognition does not involve significant 

management estimates or judgements, it is considered a 

Key Audit Matter because of its significance to the Group’s 

reported financial performance.  

 

The risk is heightened due to having distinct revenues 

across various subsidiaries.  

 

Revenue recognition can be impacted by a failure to 

correctly measure revenue in accordance with applicable 

accounting standards and/or by applying an incorrect 

approach to period end cut-off. 

 

 

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition 

included:  

 

• Assessing whether the Group’s revenue recognition 

policies were in compliance with the requirements of 

AASB 15 Revenues from Contracts with Customers;  

 

• Evaluating and testing the operating effectiveness of 

key controls related to revenue recognition;  

 

• Reviewing any large or unusual transactions close to 

the end of the financial year;  

 

• Performing cut-off testing over transactions recorded 

either side of the period end, to ensure that revenues 

were recorded in the appropriate period; 

 

• Conducting a combination of tests of controls, 

substantive analytical procedures and tests of details 

in respect of revenue related transactions; and  

 

• Reviewing disclosures in relation to the impact on 

adoption of AASB 15 and the disaggregation of 

revenues in the financial statements.  

 

 

Other Information  

 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the Group's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021; but does not include the 

financial report and the auditor's report thereon.  

 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report, or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 

view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 

and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report (continued) 

 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as 

a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.  

 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance; but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 

Assurance Standards Board website at: https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar2_2020.pdf. This 

description forms part of our auditor's report.  

 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors' report for the year ended 30 June 2021.  

 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of PropTech Group Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2021, complies 

with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in 

accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

 

 
RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 

 

 
R J MORILLO MALDONADO 

Partner 

 

Dated: 30 August 2021 

Melbourne, Victoria 
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION  
 
In accordance with ASX Listing Rule 4.10, the Company provides the following information to shareholders not 
elsewhere disclosed in this Annual Report. All information provided below is current as at 30 July 2021 unless 
otherwise stated. 
 
Corporate Governance 
The Company’s corporate governance statement is available on the Company’s website: 
 
https://proptechgroup.io/investor/ 
 
Classes of equity securities on issue 
 

Equity security class Number of holders 

Ordinary shares 1142 

Unlisted options over ordinary shares (Options) 3 
 

 
Voting rights attached to each class of equity security 
At a general meeting of the Company, every shareholder present in person or by proxy, representative or attorney has 
one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote for each share held. If the votes are equal on a proposed 
resolution, the chairperson of the meeting has a casting vote, in addition to any deliberative vote. 
 
Each shareholder is entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at general meetings of the Company and to receive 
all notices, accounts and other documents required to be sent to shareholders under the constitution, Corporations Act 
and listing rules. The Company must give at least 28 days’ written notice of a general meeting.  
 
Options holders do not have voting rights. 
 
 
Distribution schedule in each class of equity securities 
 
Class of Security – Ordinary Shares 
149,585,464 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 1,142 individual shareholders. All issued ordinary shares carry one 
vote per share and carry the rights to dividends. 
 

Spread of holdings Holders Ordinary shares 
% of Issued 

ordinary shares 

1–1,000 135 71,668 0.05% 

1,001–5,000 282 791,700 0.53% 

5,001–10,000 135 1,019,941 0.68% 

10,001–100,000 453 15,951,256 10.66% 

100,001 and over 137 131,750,899 88.08% 

Total 1142 149,585,464 100.00% 
 

 
Class of Security – Unlisted options over ordinary shares (Options) 
 

Spread of holdings  Holders Options 
% of Issued 

options 

1–1,000 -   

1,001–5,000 -   

5,001–10,000 -   

10,001–100,000 -   

100,001 and over 3 600,000 100.00% 

Total 3 600,000 100.00% 

 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

  
90 

 

Substantial shareholders 
Substantial holders in the Company are set out below: 
 

Shareholder 
Ordinary shares 

held 

% of Issued 
ordinary 
shares 

SIMON BAKER 11,118,853 7.43% 

PROPPLAT PTY LTD 9,050,477 6.05% 

SONGPAN INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 7,900,000 5.28% 
 

 
Top 20 shareholders 
The 20 largest holders of ordinary shares and the number of ordinary shares and the percentage of capital held by each 
are as follows: 
 

Shareholder* 
Ordinary shares 

held 

% of Issued 
ordinary 
shares 

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 9,187,596 6.14% 

PROPPLAT PTY LTD 9,050,477 6.05% 

SONGPAN INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 7,900,000 5.28% 

HB SUPER HOLDINGS PTY LTD <HB SUPER FUND A/C> 6,700,116 4.48% 

REAL ESTATE INSTITUTE OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 5,583,350 3.73% 

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 5,046,659 3.37% 

LAWSON MACNEE PTY LTD 4,999,928 3.34% 

MR DAVID LANGLEY JAMES 4,866,088 3.25% 

A & N CAMPBELL PTY LTD 4,866,088 3.25% 

MR SCOTT WULFF <WULFF FAMILY A/C> 4,645,148 3.11% 

MR MATTHEW JOHN HEALY 4,559,508 3.05% 

ATHERLEY INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 4,530,421 3.03% 

SAM PLOWMAN 4,054,302 2.71% 

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 3,897,654 2.61% 

CAV INVESTMENT HOLDINGS HK LIMITED 3,583,624 2.40% 

MR CAREY STEWART SMITH 2,521,329 1.69% 

PAVERD HOLDINGS PTY LTD 2,515,572 1.68% 

RL & HL PTY LTD <RH FAMILY A/C> 1,699,836 1.14% 

LYMER PTY LTD 1,451,612 0.97% 

YOL PTY LTD 1,451,612 0.97% 

 Total  93,110,920 62.25% 
 

* The shareholders listed are those on our share register and do not, in all cases reflect the underlying beneficial holders. 
 
Statement regarding use of cash and assets 
From the time of the Company’s admission to the ASX until 30 June 2021, the Company has used the cash and assets 
in a form readily convertible to cash, that it had at the time of admission, in a way that is consistent with its business 
objectives at that time. 
 
 
Unmarketable parcels 
The number of holders holding less than a marketable parcel of the Company’s main class of securities (fully paid 
ordinary shares) based on the closing market price as at 30 July 2021. 
 
 

  Holders Unmarketable units 

Minimum $500.00 parcel at $0.715 per share  87 28,849 

 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

  
91 

 

Number and class of restricted securities or securities subject to voluntary escrow 
 

Class of restricted securities Type of restriction Number of securities 
End date of 

escrow period 

Fully paid ordinary shares ASX escrowed 12 months  31,006,284 24/11/2021 

Fully paid ordinary shares 
ASX escrowed 12 months, plus an additional 12-months voluntary 
escrow 

19,449,540 24/11/2022 

Fully paid ordinary shares ASX Escrowed 24 months 16,788,288 24/11/2022 

Fully paid ordinary shares Voluntary 24 months 4,508,104 22/07/2023 
 

Unquoted equity securities 
 

 Holders Units 

Director – 30c options vested 29-Nov-18, expiring 30-Nov-23 1 200,000 

Director – 24c options vesting 29-Jan-21, expiring 27-Jan-23 1 200,000 

KMP – 30c options vested 31-Jan-19, expiring 30-Jan-23 1 200.000 

Total 3 600,000 
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1300 184 661
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